Livestock and Deforestation Central America in the 1980s and 1990s: A Policy Perspective

David Kaimowitz



INTERNATIONAL FOOD POLICY RESEARCH INSTITUTE

CIFOR Special Publication

Livestock and Deforestation Central America in the 1980s and 1990s: A Policy Perspective

David Kaimowitz





INTERNATIONAL FOOD POLICY RESEARCH INSTITUTE

CIFOR Special Publication

© 1996 Center for International Forestry Research

Published by

Center for International Forestry Research

P.O.Box. 6596, JKPWB Jakarta 10065 Indonesia

ISBN 979-8764-08-0

ABSTRACT

This study analyses seven factors used to explain the conversion of forest to pasture in Central America between 1979 and 1994: 1) favourable markets for livestock products; 2) subsidised credit and road construction; 3) land tenure policies; 4) limited technological change in livestock production; 5) policies which reduce timber values; 6) reduced levels of political violence; and 7) characteristics specific to cattle which make conversion attractive.

Deforestation rates in Central America declined in the 1980s, but remained high. After expanding rapidly, cattle population and pasture area have stagnated, although they continue to expand on the humid tropical frontier.

Strong markets for beef and dairy products stimulated livestock expansion and deforestation in the 1960s and 1970s. After that period, markets for livestock products became less favourable, which led to lower investment.

During the 1960s and 1970s large government subsidies for cattle raising encouraged forest conversion. Since then credit subsidies have been reduced, but subsidised public road construction continues, causing widespread deforestation. Land speculation is another reason why pasture expansion has continued in agricultural frontier areas.

There is little evidence that technological progress in livestock production reduces deforestation. Nor is it clear that removing policies which discriminate against forest production would have a major positive effect in this regard.

The author proposes: 1) restrictions on road construction and livestock credit in agricultural frontier areas; 2) increased enforcement of land-use restrictions in protected areas; 3) the expansion of land rights for indigenous peoples; 4) stronger restrictions on the titling of natural lands by large landholders; 5) pilot efforts to establish local land taxes with higher rates for pasture and crop lands than for forest; and 6) economic incentives for secondary forest regeneration and research on pasture degradation in Central America.

CONTENTS

		Page
1.	Introduction	1
2.	Forests, Cattle, Pastures and Crops	4
	Deforestation	5
	Costa Rica	9
	Guatemala	9
	Honduras	10
	Nicaragua	10
	Panama	10
	Cattle Population and Pasture	11
	Secondary Forest and Brush	14
	Changes in Land Use for Crops	17
3.	The Different "Logics" of Livestock Production	19
	Traditional Medium and Large Ranchers	19
	"Investment" Ranchers	20
	Medium and Large Agricultural Frontier Ranchers	21
	Common Features of the Medium and Large	
	Ranchers	22
	Small Farmers	23
	The Implications for Policy	24
4.	The Role of Market Forces in the Cattle-Forest	
	Relationship	25
	The Hamburger Connection	25
	The Domestic Demand for Beef	30
	Milk Imports and Exports and the Domestic	
	Demand for Dairy Products	32
	The Implications for Policy	34

5.	Government Subsidies for Livestock and	25
	Public Road Construction	35
	for Cottle	25
	I interest of the condition	35
	Livestock Credit	30 40
	The Implications for Policy	40 42
6.	The Role of Government Land Policies and Land	
	Markets	42
	Land Markets and Land Conversion	43
	Land Claims and Land Titling	46
	Colonisation Schemes	48
	Agrarian Reform, Protected Areas, Indigenous	
	Territories and Extractive Reserves	49
	Land Taxation	52
	The Implications for Policy	53
7.	Technological Change and Environmental Degradation	54
	Technological Change	55
	Environmental Deterioration and Pasture	
	Degradation	56
	The Implications for Policy	60
8.	The Role of Forestry Policy	60
	The Implications for Policy	63
9.	Political Instability and Violence	63
	The Role of Violence in Nicaragua	63
	The Role of Violence in Guatemala	64
	The Implications for Policy	65
10.	Conclusions and Policy Recommendations	65
	End Notes	68
	References	73

LIVESTOCK AND DEFORESTATION IN CENTRAL AMERICA IN THE 1980s AND 1990s: A POLICY PERSPECTIVE¹

David Kaimowitz

Introduction

The most important change in land use in tropical Latin America over the last thirty years has been the widespread conversion of forest to pasture. Between 1981 and 1990, the region lost 75 million hectares of forest, the majority of which became grass lands (FAO 1993).

In some cases these changes were justified. But in many others, the social costs of deforestation outweighed the benefits (Ledec 1992a). Large amounts of wood and non-timber forest products were wasted. Soil degradation and siltation increased. Valuable genetic resources were lost. Carbon dioxide released by burning forests contributed to global warming. Moreover, many of the new pastures can only sustain their nutritional value for cattle for a few years under current practices.

The benefits of any future deforestation will probably be even lower and the costs higher. The remaining forests tend to be on marginal lands with excessive rains and poor soils or steep slopes. Cattle raising or crop production in these areas generates low levels of income per hectare. At the same time, forests in very humid or mountainous areas are likely to have a high value for biodiversity conservation and watershed protection, and as the total area in forest declines the "existence value" which society places on forests may increase.

Deforestation is especially problematic in Central America because, unlike the Amazon, most remaining forest could disappear in the next few decades. Because of its role as a biological "bridge" between North and South America and its great diversity in climates, soils and altitudes, the region has one of the highest levels of biodiversity per square kilometre in the world (Reid and Miller 1989). Given the low levels of value added which could be generated by livestock and cropping on currently forested land (typically below \$50 per hectare), environmental services provided by forests do not have to be very high to outweigh the benefits of agricultural production on those lands².

Seven explanations of pasture expansion at the expense of forest can be found in the literature (Godoy and Brokaw 1994):

- Favourable markets for livestock products (Myers 1981; Nations and Komer 1983).
- Government subsidies for livestock credit and road construction (Mahar 1988; Binswanger 1991).
- Land tenure policies that promote deforestation to establish property rights (Jones 1990).
- Slow technological change in livestock management that favours extensive production systems (Serrão and Toledo 1992, 1993).
- Policies which depress timber values and make forest management unprofitable (Kishor and Constantino 1993, Stewart and Gibson 1994).
- Reduced violence, which has lowered the risk of ranching in isolated areas (Maldidier 1993).
- Characteristics of cattle such as their low labour and supervision requirements, transportability, limited risk, prestige value, limited use of purchased inputs, and biological and economic flexibility (Hecht 1992).

Some of these explanations also apply to forest clearing for crops, and indeed large areas have been deforested for crop expansion. Nevertheless, because of the specific advantages of cattle identified in the last explanation, landowners have often chosen to convert their land to pasture rather than crops.

Depending on which factors one believes to be more important, the prognosis and policy recommendations emerging from the analysis are different. This study uses the Central American experience during the last fifteen years to put forth some hypotheses about how each of the seven factors listed above has influenced the conversion of forest to pasture in that region, and about how effective policies designed to address these issues have been or are likely to be. Because of the diversity of situations within and between countries, Central America constitutes an excellent "policy laboratory" from which valuable insights can be drawn about these issues which may be relevant for other regions of tropical Latin America. The Central American case is particularly interesting because the region has gone through both a cattle boom and a period of decline. This allows one to look not only at the processes which fuel cattle expansion and deforestation, but also to examine the extent to which these processes can operate in reverse. The analysis covers all of Central America, except El Salvador, which has little remaining natural forest and where changes in forest cover have been only marginally related to trends in the livestock sector in recent years ³.

The study concludes that falling beef and dairy prices are likely to only moderately reduce the extent of forest clearance for pasture and are likely to lower cattle population and pasture area in traditional cattle-grazing regions more than on the agricultural frontier. The promotion of technologies favouring livestock intensification and the elimination of policies which lower timber prices will probably not be very effective since their effect on deforestation comes through similar relative price shifts to those associated with changes in beef and dairy prices. Moreover, technological changes in livestock production in Central America are unlikely to significantly affect beef prices, which are largely determined on the international market, and lower timber prices can reduce pressure for timber removal from unmanaged forests. On the other hand, changes in road construction, land tenure and land-use policies have the potential to significantly encourage major reductions in forest clearance for pasture, although they are unlikely to eliminate it entirely. At present, livestock credit is not a major cause of forest clearing, but should be restricted in agricultural frontier regions with high rainfall. Incentives which promote the permanent conversion of abandoned pastures to secondary forests may also be effective, and may be more efficient and justifiable than subsidies for reforestation in situations where trees with commercial value are likely to rapidly grow back naturally. Additional research is required on pasture degradation so that some negative consequences of forest clearance, such as soil degradation, can be reduced in areas where deforestation has already occurred.

Deforestation rates in Central America as a whole in the late 1980s were lower than ten years earlier, but remained high and, in some cases, may once again be rising due to reduced violence, continued public support for road construction in forest regions, and the increasing political power of cattle ranchers.

The information for the study has come mostly from secondary sources. Given the great deficiencies of available statistics at the

national level, an effort was made to complement this information with evidence from local-level studies. Limited field work was also carried out by the author in September 1994, in Petén and Alta Verapaz, Guatemala, including interviews with forty-five ranchers and other key informants⁴. In addition, the author has benefited from the preliminary findings of two masters students he is supervising at the National University (UNA) of Costa Rica, Rosario Ambrogio and Rosalba Ortiz, who recently interviewed 25 and 32 ranchers respectively about these issues in Boaco, Chontales, and Nueva Guinea in Nicaragua and in the San Carlos region of Costa Rica.

The study has nine sections. The first examines the trends in land use and cattle in Central America over the last fifteen years. These are, if you will, the dependent variables which need to be explained. The second part describes the major types of livestock ranches in Central America and their relative importance. This is followed by six sections which analyse the way factor identified above has affected the observed tendencies and the conclusions and policy recommendations⁵.

Finally, it should be stressed that the study's almost exclusive focus on the role of livestock in deforestation in Central America in no way implies that pasture expansion is the only cause of deforestation in the region. Currently available information is not comprehensive or accurate enough to determine the percentage of deforestation in the region that can be attributed to pasture expansion except to say that it is probably more than half. Undoubtedly, however, deforestation for expanding crop lands, timber removal (particularly in pine forests) and other purposes is also very important and may be caused by factors different from those causing pasture expansion. The fact that the paper only marginally touches on these issues reflects its limited scope, not that the other causes of deforestation are irrelevant.

FORESTS, CATTLE, PASTURES and CROPS

Any discussion of deforestation and livestock in Central America must acknowledge the serious limitations of the data on which the conclusions are based (Grainger 1993). Available statistics are often contradictory, use different definitions of forest cover and pasture, and vary widely in accuracy and timeliness. Reliable estimates of recent deforestation rates exist only for Costa Rica and the Petén, Guatemala (Lutz *et al.* 1993, World Bank 1993, Mario Rodriguez, personal communication). Honduras and Panama are the only countries with recent census data on livestock. In the remaining countries the statistics on deforestation and pastures and cattle population are out of date and/or of questionable reliability⁶. Nevertheless, a compelling argument regarding the general trends can still be pieced together.

A second caveat concerns the definition of deforestation. As used in this article, the term implies "more or less permanent removal of most of the natural tree cover from an area" (Ledec 1992b: 20). Lumber companies or cattle grazing under pines often seriously degrade forests without "deforesting" them, as the term is used in this study. Those processes are not analysed here. On the other hand, typically, when forests are cleared for pasture expansion small numbers of trees are left for shade or other purposes. Generally, however, so little tree cover remains in these areas that they could be considered "deforested" under the above definition.

An additional problem with deforestation statistics is that they rarely specify whether they refer to gross or net deforestation. It is unclear to what extent they reflect net changes in total forest cover (including new forest as well as forest losses) or only forest clearance. Until recently the difference between these two indicators was marginal, but it is now significant due to the growth of secondary forests and, in Costa Rica, reforested areas.

Livestock statistics are frequently biased upwards or downwards, depending on ranchers' incentives to report ownership of more or less cattle, and this has undoubtedly affected the data presented below. When agrarian reform policies are in effect large ranchers tend to report having less land and fewer cattle. However, when higher cattle export quotas are allocated to ranchers with a larger herd size, as was often the case in Costa Rica during the 1970s and 1980s ranchers may claim to have more cattle than they really do (Edelman 1992).

Deforestation

It is clear from Table 1 that deforestation has been rapid during the entire period 1950 to 1986. The table provides information on forest area in each Central American country for selected years between 1950 and 1986 and two different estimates for 1990. The majority of deforested land has been transformed into pastures, either directly or after being used for crops, with most of the remainder being used for

annual crop production by small producers (Ledec 1992a; Nations 1992a; Walker *et al.* 1993) (See Maps 1 and 2).

	1950	1970/80	1990(Utting)	1990(FAO)
Costa Rica	2.7	1.6 (1977)	1.4	1.4
Guatemala	7.1	4.4 (1980)	3.7	4.2
Honduras	6.8*	5.1 (1986)	4.7**	4.6**
Nicaragua	7.0	4.5 (1980)	4.1	6.0
Panama	5.2	3.9 (1974)	3.2	3.1
Total	29.0*		17.1	19.3

 Table 1. Forest area for selected years in Central America (excluding El Salvador) (millions of hectares).

Sources: For 1990 all countries: FAO (1993), Utting (1993). For previous years: Costa Rica: Sader and Joyce (1988); Guatemala: 1950: OAS (1991), 1980: CONAMA (1992); Honduras: Daugherty (1989); Nicaragua: 1950: MED/IRENA (1993); 1980: Leonard (1987); Panama: Ledec (1992b).

Notes:

- * A 1962 figure was used for Honduras since none was available for 1950.
- ** These figures are probably too low, as recent interpretations of 1989 satellite images found 5.7 million hectares of forest in Honduras (Silviagro 1994).

A sample of recent estimates of the deforestation rate for each country (Table 2) shows a total deforestation rate for the region of between 324,000 and 431,000 hectares per year. Nevertheless, most of them probably over-estimate deforestation during the period covered or are no longer applicable, since deforestation has declined since the original studies were made.

Map 1





	Grainger	Nations &	WRI	FAO	Merlet	Utting	
	(76-80)	(82)	(81-85)	(81-90)	(91)	(90)	
Costa Rica	60	60	60	50	40	50	
Guatemala	na	60	90	81	90	90	
Honduras	53	70	90	112	108	80	
Nicaragua	97	100	121	124	125	70	
Panama	31	50	36	64	41	34	
Total	na	340	402	431	394	324	

 Table 2. Recent estimates of annual deforestation in Central America (excluding El Salvador) (thousands of hectares)*

Sources: Nations and Komer 1983; WRI 1992; FAO 1993; Grainger 1993; Merlet *et al.* 1992; Utting 1993.

* The years in parenthesis are the years for which the figures supposedly apply. However, all the figures are based on studies carried out in the mid-1980s or earlier.

The most recent available evidence for deforestation in each country shows the following:

Costa Rica

Annual deforestation fell from between 40,000 and 60,000 hectares in the late 1970s and early 1980s to 18,000 hectares between 1987 and 1992, and more recently to only 8,500 hectares (Lutz *et al.* 1993; Nuñez 1993; World Bank 1993).

Guatemala

Thirty thousand hectares per year were deforested in Petén between 1976 and 1987, and 42,000 hectares of medium and dense forest were cleared annually between 1987 and 1993 (AHT-APESA 1992; Mario

Rodriguez, personal communication). Given that land clearance in Guatemala in this period was concentrated in the Peten, the deforestation rates in Table 2 are probably too high. Based on comparisons between recent estimates of total national forest coverage and estimates from the mid 1970s it appears that annual deforestation over the last twenty years has been between 50,000 and 60,000 hectares, rather than the 80,000 or 90,000 hectares mentioned in many studies (Cabrera 1992).

Honduras

Reliable estimates of forest coverage only exist for 1962 and 1989. Based on the difference in forest cover in these two years, net deforestation during the period averaged 53,000 hectares per year, a figure much lower than most recent estimates (Silviagro 1994).

Nicaragua

The figure of approximately 120,000 hectares of annual deforestation comes from a study conducted by the Nicaraguan government in 1986, using aerial photography to compare forest cover in that year with forest cover in 1972- 1974 (personal communication Cesar Aviles 1994). Nevertheless, most experts agree that deforestation declined substantially in Nicaragua between 1983 and 1989, and then began to increase again with the end of the military conflict (Maldidier 1993).

Panama

Government statistics show that deforestation fell from 46,000 hectares per year between 1970 and 1980 to 35,000 hectares per year between 1980 and 1987 (IICA 1993b).

After reviewing the available evidence, this author estimates that total deforestation in Central America probably diminished from around 400,000 hectares per year in the late 1970s to some 300,000 hectares in 1990. This decline is no cause for comfort, however, since even at the current rate of deforestation Central America would lose all of its remaining forest in less than sixty years. Deforestation declined in Costa Rica, Nicaragua (during the 1980s) and Panama. On the other hand, it increased in Petén, Guatemala and Nicaragua (since 1990). Deforestation is currently concentrated in the Petén and the Northern Transversal Strip in Guatemala; Atlántida, Colón, Olancho and Gracias a Dios in Honduras; Zelaya, Jinotega, and Rio San Juan in

Nicaragua; and the provinces of Panama, Bocas de1 Toro, and Darien in Panama.

Cattle Population and Pasture

Between 1950 and 1978, the region's cattle herd more than doubled, after which it stagnated and the region had fewer cattle in 1992 than fourteen years earlier. Table 3 shows the evolution of the cattle population in Central America since 1950. Cattle expansion in Honduras began later but continued into the nineties. Nicaragua lost much more of its cattle herd than any other country.

	1950	1970	1978	1992
Costa Rica	0.6	1.5	2.0	1.7
Guatemala	1.0	1.5	2.1	2.2
Honduras	0.9	1.2	1.8	2.1
Nicaragua	1.1	2.2	2.8	2.2
Panama	0.6	1.2	1.4	1.4
Total	4.2	7.6	10.1	9.6

Table 3: Cattle population in Central America in 1950 1970 1978 and1992 (excluding El Salvador) (million head)

Sources : For 1950 all countries: Leonard (1987). For other years: Costa Rica: 1970 and 1978: FAO (1980) 1993: Consejo National de Producción, unpublished data; Guatemala: 1970 and 1978: Banco de Guatemala (1981a) 1992: Banco de Guatemala, unpublished data; Honduras: 1970 and 1978: based on extrapolations from the 1965 and 1974 censuses, 1992: SECPLAN (1994); Nicaragua: Holman (1993); Panama: Direction de Estadistica y Censo (1992).

Changes in national pasture areas followed closely the changes in cattle population (See Table 4). Although the figures show that pasture expanded in Costa Rica despite a decline in cattle population and fell in Honduras despite a rise in livestock numbers, this may reflect statistical errors and lags rather than real trends. These national statistics, however, hide major differences between regions within each country. At the same time as pastures expanded in certain areas, they declined in others.

	1950	1970	1978	1983	1991
Costa Rica	0.6	1.3	1.7	2.2	2.4
Guatemala	0.8	1.0	1.1	1.3	1.4
Honduras	0.8	1.2	1.3	1.6	1.5*
Nicaragua	0.8	2.3	3.4	4.0	2.7
Panama	0.5	1.1	1.3	1.4	1.5
Total	3.5	6.9	8.8	10.5	9.5

Table 4. Pasture area in Central America in 1950 1970 1978 1983, and1991 (excluding El Salvador) (millions hectares)

Sources: Costa Rica: 1950 1970, and 1978: Rodriguez and Vargas (1988); 1983: Van der Kamp (1990); 1991: Segura: (1992); Guatemala: 1950 and 1978: RUTA (1993); 1970: extrapolation by the author based on the 1965 census and a 1974 livestock survey (Direction General de Estadística 1976); 1983: FAO (1990); 1991: FAO (1991); Honduras: 1950 and 1970: Slutsky (1979); 1978 and 1983: SRN (1991); 199 1: 1993 census (SECPLAN 1994); Nicaragua: 1950: FAO (1966); 1970: Warnken (1975); 1978 and 1983: CIERA (1983); 1991: Holman (1994); Panama: 1950: Heckadon (1984); other years: Gobeirno de Panama (1993).

Pasture expansion in the last fifteen years has occurred in different regions and ecosystems than in the period between 1950 and 1979 (See Figure 1). During the earlier period, 60 per cent of pasture expansion occurred in tropical dry areas of the Pacific and central regions where fire could be easily used, with less than 2,000 mm of annual rainfall and/or more than three dry months (Toledo 1992). Since that time,

	1950s	1960s/1970s	1980s/1990s
Costa Rica	Guanacaste Nicoya	Alajuela Guanacaste Perez Zeledon	Alajuela Limón
Guatemala	Escuintla Jutiapa Santa Rosa	Alta Verapaz Chiquimula Izabal Quiche Petén Zacapa	Petén Izabal
Honduras	Copán, Cortes, El Paraíso, Olancho, Santa Barbara	Atlántida, Colon Choluteca, El Paraíso, Olancho, Yoro	Colón, El Paraíso, Olancho, Yoro
Nicaragua	Matagalpa Nueva Segovia	Chontales Jinotega Matagalpa Nueva Guinea Río San Juan	Jinotega Zelaya
Panama	Coclé Chiriqui Herrera Los Santos Veraguas	Panama Colon	Panama Bocas del Toro Colon Darien

Figure 1. Geographical location of cattle expansion (1950-1993).

Sources: Costa Rica: Girot 1989; Hijfte 1989; León et al. 1982; Rodriguez 1993; Guatemala: ICAITI 1974; Williams 1986; AHT-APESA 1992; RUTA 1993; Honduras: Alderman 1973; Howard 1988; SRN 1991; Ventura 1992; SECPLAN 1994; Nicaragua: Williams 1986; Merlet 1992; Panama: Heckadon 1984; Dirección de Estadísticas y Censo 1992. however, the expansion has moved eastward towards the Atlantic plains, which generally have fragile infertile soils and too much rain for annual crops (Merlet 1992). Pasture area in Petén, Guatemala has grown by over 200,000 hectares since 1979 (AHT-APESA 1992; Manuel Rodriguez, personal communication). In the humid tropics of Honduras it grew by at least 275,000 hectares over the last 20 years (SECPLAN 1994). Most of the 170,000 hectare growth in pastures in Panama between 1981 and 1991 was also in the humid frontier provinces (Gobeimo de Panama 1993).

At the same time, cattle population and pasture area in the traditional cattle-producing areas of the Pacific and interior has declined (See Figure 2). The very areas which were the centres of livestock expansion in the 1950s and 1960s, such as Guanacaste and Puntarenas in Costa Rica, the south coast of Guatemala, western Honduras and western Panama were the areas where the cattle population declined the most in the 1980s (See Map 3).

Secondary Forest and Brush

The decline in cattle populations has led to a major increase in abandoned lands, which have become brush, wooded areas and even secondary forest. This process is clearest in Nicaragua and Costa Rica, but is also occurring in other countries. Nicaragua now has some 1.1 million hectares of "scrub forest", defined as "areas where there is a predominance of woody species lower than five meters, often combined with extensive livestock", and an additional 900,000 hectares in "forest fallow", defined as "woody vegetation that appears after the clearance of natural forests for migratory agriculture" (INTECFOR 1993). Most of the scrub forest is located in the drier, traditional cattle producing regions, whereas the forest fallow is concentrated in the more humid areas of eastern Nicaragua.

In Costa Rica, the area of secondary forest grew from 229,189 hectares in 1984 to 388,341 in 1989, with most of this growth coming from abandoned pastures (TSC/WRI 1991). Recently, the Tropical Science Center estimated the area under secondary forest to be 425,000 hectares (Nuñez 1993)⁷. These trends in the national statistics have been corroborated by two recent regional studies of land-use changes in Guacimo-Rio Jimenez-Siquirres in Limon and Arenal-Tempisque in Guanacaste, both of which show a decline in pasture area, greater presence of shrub vegetation within pastures, an

increase in secondary forest, and a growth in crop lands (Fallas and Morera 1993; Huising 1993). The area reforested in Costa Rica in forest plantations has also grown 76,465 hectares since 1990, from 35,114 hectares to 111,579 hectares (MIRENEM 1994).

	Retraction	Stagnation
Costa Rica*	Nicoya, Guanacaste,	"Los Santos" (Dota,
	Central Pacific, Western Limon	Pursical, Acosta, Mora, Turrubares, Tarrazu, Leon Cortes)
Guatemala	Escuintla	Retahuleu, Suchitepeqeuz
Honduras	Choluteca, Cortes, Santa Barbara	
Nicaragua	Entire country until 1989	
Panama	Chiriqui, Veraguas Los Santos	Cocle, Herrera,

Figure 2: Geographical location of cattle retraction and stagnation (1980-1993)

Sources: Costa Rica: Fallas and Morera 1993; Huising 1993; Lehmann 1991; Rodriguez 1993; Guatemala: RUTA 1993; Honduras: SECPLAN 1994; Nicaragua: Cajina 1986; Holman 1993; Panama: Gobeirno de Panama 1993.

* The information for Costa Rica, except for western Limón, was taken from the 1984 agricultural census, and hence only reflects stagnation and decline in the first half of the 1980s.



16

The recent 1993 Honduran Agricultural Census found that fallow lands and secondary forest had increased by 110,000 hectares since 1974 (SECPLAN 1994). Similarly, satellite images from the Petén in Guatemala show that there were 111,000 hectares more of "abandoned crop lands" in 1993 then in 1987 (Mario Rodriguez, personal communication). By 1991, Guatemala had some 360,000 hectares of secondary forest (Cabrera 1992).

Another indicator of the growth of abandoned lands is the increase in the category of "other land uses" registered in the FAO land-use statistics (See Table 5). According to FAO (1992), this type of land use grew from 9.1 million hectares in 1976 to 12.1 million hectares in 1991.

	1976	1991
Costa Rica	0.7	0.6
Guatemala	3.0	3.9
Honduras	2.8	3.6
Nicaragua	1.1	1.9
Panama	1.5	2.1
Total	9.1	12.1

Table 5. Area in "Other Land Use" in Central America in 1976 and1991 (excluding El Salvador) (million hectares)

Source: FAO 1992.

Changes in Land Use for Crops

To complete the analysis of land-use trends in Central America, it is worth mentioning that the area under annual and perennial crops has remained almost constant. FAO statistics show the same area of crops in 1991 as in 1978 (FAO 1979, 1992). There were slight increases in Guatemala and Panama, but these were compensated for by a small decrease in Nicaragua (See Table 6).

	1978	1991
Costa Rica	0.5	0.5
Guatemala	1.8	1.9
Honduras	1.8	1.8
Nicaragua	1.5	1.3
Panama	0.6	0.7
Total	6.2	6.2

Table 6.Area in annual and perennial crops in Central America in1978 and 1991 (excluding El Salvador) (millions of hectares)

Sources: FAO 1979, 1992.

Just as in the case of livestock, however, the stagnation of crop lands is actually the product of two conflicting processes which tend to offset each other. Growth has continued in the area of crop lands at the agricultural frontier, particularly in Petén, Guatemala and eastern Honduras and Nicaragua. In these areas there has been a substantial increase in maize production in particular. The area of coffee in Honduras also grew 75,000 hectares between 1979 and 1987, and much of this growth may have come at the expense of forest (Baumeister 1994). At the same time the area planted to cotton in the Pacific regions declined by 440,000 hectares between 1977 and 1992, and a large portion of these former cotton lands were abandoned or converted to pasture, rather than other crops (Gil 1993).

Significant shifts back and forth have taken place between crop land and pasture, but these are impossible to quantify with the available information. In many areas maize is grown after an area is deforested and before pasture is planted, either because large landholders give small farmers access to land to plant annual crops in return for clearing it and later planting pasture, or because small farmers sell the land they have been planting with annual crops on to large farmers who then convert it to pasture. On the other hand, thousands of hectares formerly under pasture in Costa Rica are now being used for producing oranges, rice, sugar cane and other crops, and there may be similar cases in the other countries (Edelman 1992).

THE DIFFERENT "LOGICS" OF LIVESTOCK PRODUCTION

The Central American livestock sector has distinct types of producers, who respond differently to changes in policy, markets and technology. The relative weight of these producer types varies by region and country, and this is one major reason why these regions react differently to similar contextual changes.

For purposes of this study, four major types of livestock producers have been identified: 1) "traditional" medium and large ranchers; 2) "investment" ranchers without historical ties to cattle ranching; 3) medium and large ranchers on the agricultural frontier; and 4) small farmers with a few cattle. This section characterises these producer types and provides information regarding their relative importance in each country and region.

"TRADITIONAL" Medium and Large Ranchers

These are cattle ranchers whose families have been in the business since before 1950, and often since the colonial period. Although some of their land has been purchased during recent decades, much of it is inherited or was obtained at minimal cost by making claims on public lands and hence, while it has opportunity costs, does not represent a cash outlay for cattle production. As a result, these ranchers may base their decisions more on the short-term cash flows offered by livestock than on full-cost calculations of profitability.

The traditional cattle families can be found throughout the dry and semi-humid areas of Central America, but they are especially associated with towns such as Cañas and Liberia in Costa Rica, Escuintla and Retalhuleu in Guatemala, Catacamas, Choluteca, Comayagua, Danlí and Quimistán in Honduras, Grenada, Juigalpa, Rivas and Matagalpa in Nicaragua, and David, Santiago and Sona in Panama. Some live in their countries' capital cities, but many continue to live in these provincial towns.

Most of these families have investments apart from cattle. What separates them from the group which follows, however, is their traditional association with livestock and the fact that they inherited important portions of their land and cattle. These ranchers may also have a "cattle culture", in which livestock and land has substantial prestige value above and beyond their immediate economic worth (Heckadon 1984; Graciela 1989; Ledec 1992b; Thrupp 1980).

Some of these families have ranches in more humid areas near the agricultural frontier. Those ranches, however, tend to play a secondary role in their cattle operations and are used mostly to feed cattle during the dry season.

"INVESTMENT" Ranchers

After 1950, capitalist entrepreneurs, both domestic and foreign, began to view cattle ranching and meat packing as an attractive sector for investment. They were enticed by the potential profits in steer fattening, beef processing and exporting, rising land values and government land grants, the availability of subsidised credit, limited supervision requirements of cattle operations and, in some cases, interesting tax breaks. Most of these investors had little, if any, experience in cattle production, and few lived on the ranches they owned. Some went into business on their own; others sought out joint ventures with established cattle ranchers (Edelman 1992). Many of those involved in this type of investment were wealthy businessmen and large companies. Others were simply well-off professionals, government officials, and merchants, who saw cattle ranching as a good area to invest their savings (Kaimowitz 1995).

The regions associated with this type of investment include: Guanacaste and, more recently, northern Alajuela in Costa Rica, the North Coast of Honduras, Izabal and Petén in Guatemala, and Chiriqui, Los Santos, and Veraguas in Panama (Alderman 1973; Banco de Guatemala 1981a; Aguilar and Solis 1988; AHT-APESA 1992; Edelman 1992; Ledec 1992b). Similar types of ranchers also existed in Nicaragua, but many of them had their lands expropriated during the agrarian reform of the 1980s. Often, investment ranchers prefer farms which are very accessible, as this allows them to visit the ranch and return the same day or the following day.

The great majority of investment ranchers live in urban areas. For example, in the early 1970s over 80 per cent of the members of the principal ranchers association in the north coast of Honduras had addresses in the city of San Pedro (Alderman 1973). Among the 54 ranchers in northern Guatemala who received loans from the World Bank Livestock Development Project (PRODEGA) in the 1970s, 69 per cent lived off the farm and 37 per cent reported their primary occupation as some thing besides farming (World Bank 1978).

Military officers constitute a particular sub-group within this type of ranchers. Some officers purchased their lands; others simply laid claim to forest areas or small farmers' lands and obtained government titles for them. Compared to the other investors, military officers are more likely to own land in isolated areas where land tenure is insecure and their access to military force places them in a privileged position to defend their claims to land. Areas which are generally associated with military land ownership include parts of Alta Verapaz and Petén in Guatemala, Olancho in Honduras, and northern and eastern Nicaragua (Maloney 1981; Schwartz 1990; Richards 1994).

The "investment ranchers", both civilian and military, tend to concentrate their attention on steer fattening and meat processing. These investments provide the quickest returns, are less risky and, in the case of steer fattening, require less management and supervision than calf raising or dairy production. Some investment ranchers seem to base their decisions on short-term profit margins (including the opportunity costs of money invested in land and cattle), have low "barriers to exit" from cattle production, and tend to sell their land or reduce their cattle stock when business is poor. Others, however, apparently view cattle raising as a long-term, low-risk activity in which to invest their savings and tend to react more slowly to changes in market conditions.

Medium and Large Agricultural Frontier Ranchers

These ranchers can be distinguished from the first two groups by their physical residence in or near agricultural frontier areas and their generally more humble origins. Few individuals with substantial economic resources are willing to reside in agricultural frontier areas. This group is less likely to have major investments outside their residential region, although many of them engage in commerce, transport activities, and lumber extraction, in addition to cattle ranching. Geographically, this group is concentrated in eastern Honduras, Panama Province and eastern and northern Nicaragua.

Frequently, these are families who first moved to the agricultural frontier to cut lumber or to trade, but were later able to claim or purchase large areas of land. They tend to have been among the first families to arrive in the areas where they live and to have come with some initial capital resources (Hernández 1987; Merlet 1992; Maldidier 1993). Some of these families have substantial incomes by local standards, but due to their relative isolation they tend to maintain more rural cultural attributes⁸.

For ranchers at the agricultural frontier, cattle offer the critical advantage of being easy to transport. In some cases, ranchers even walk to market themselves. Moreover, once annual crop yields begin to fall due to declining fertility and weed infestation, conversion to pasture is often the only economically viable use for frontier land (Hecht 1992).

Common Features of the Medium and Large Ranchers

Traditionally, all three groups of medium and large ranchers obtained a substantial amount of their labour through systems of "colonato" or labour rents (Hemández-Mora 1994). In these systems, poor rural families were provided with (often forested) land to plant corn or other annual crops, but in return had to do occasional jobs for the landowner, leave the crop residues for the rancher and, after a few years, plant grass and move to another plot. Through this system ranchers were able to convert large areas of forest to pastures at minimal cost.

In recent years, however, many large ranchers seem to have shifted to the use of wage labour and labour contracts to convert forest to pastures (Banco de Guatemala 1981a; AHT-APESA 1992; Ledec 1992b; Pijnenburg and Martinez 1992). These ranchers prefer wage labour because it allows them to obtain pasture quicker (without passing through the stage of maize production) and in sparsely populated areas is often the only way to attract sufficient labour. The widespread use of chain saws, which have tended to replace axes, made it easier to clear forested areas and reduced the need to use labour rent systems for that purpose (Davila and Castro 1990). A particularly innovative system reported by Richards (1994) in Honduras is for ranchers to offer chain saws to small farmers in exchange for land or to lend them the money to purchase chain saws, both of which help accelerate the land-clearing process⁹.

The size and relative importance of large and medium size ranchers varies depending on the country. Large ranchers are most important in Guatemala where, in 1979, some 300 ranchers with more than 1,000 animals each owned one-third of the national herd, while ranchers with

between 100 and 1,000 head owned an additional one-third (RUTA 1993). At the other extreme lie Honduras and Nicaragua. In the former, the 2,745 ranchers who had more than 200 hectares in 1993 owned only 24 per cent of the cattle and 32 per cent of the pastures; while in the latter the 687 ranchers with more than 350 hectares in 1992 owned only 12 per cent of the cattle and 17 per cent of the pasture (Holman 1994; SECPLAN 1994). Similarly, in Panama, ranchers with over 200 hectares own 31 per cent of the cattle, and the 297 ranchers with more than 500 hectares each, own only 15 per cent of the cattle (IICA 1993a). Guanacaste and San Carlos in Costa Rica tend to be more like Guatemala, while the rest of the country is more like Honduras and Nicaragua (Direction de Estadistica y Censo 1987). Altogether, the region probably has 3,000 to 4,000 ranchers with more than 500 hectares, and perhaps as many as 15,000 to 20,000 with more than 200 hectares.

Small Farmers

Except for farmers with prime agricultural land, the first thing that almost any small farmer in Central America does when he/she accumulates a little land or money is to purchase cattle. The limited availability of family labour constrains the expansion of crop production and farmers prefer to avoid the cash outlays and supervision time required to hire large amounts of outside labour. Cattle raising allows small farmers to have up to 50 hectares and still cover more than 50 per cent of their labour requirements with household labour (Ventura 1992). Cattle also have the additional advantages for small farmers of being a convenient form of low-risk and easily convertible savings, providing regular income from the sale of dairy products, and making use of marginal or degraded lands which can no longer sustain crops (Hecht 1992). Thus, for example, in a survey of small- and medium-sized ranchers in Puriscal, Costa Rica, in the mid-1970s, Thrupp (1980) found that 63 per cent of farmers had shifted to cattle because they required less labour, 33 per cent to obtain milk for their family, 29 per cent because cattle presented fewer problems and risks, 27 per cent because they were more profitable, and 20 per cent because land deterioration no longer permitted growing crops in those areas¹⁰.

Most small farmers have dual-purpose systems, which produce calves and small quantities of milk and occasionally permit them to sell a cow or steer (typically to the local municipal slaughterhouse). Depending on how many cows they have and their access to markets for dairy products, the sale of milk may or may not be a major source of income for these farmers. Typically, these farms have more intensive cattle systems than the large farms, with higher stocking densities and greater use of crop residues as animal feeds.

Costa Rica is the only country with an important group of specialised small dairy farmers with relatively high levels of capital intensity and productivity. Currently, the country has some 15,000 specialised dairy producers with less than 20 hectares each who fit this description.

Small farmers with less than 50 hectares own 43 per cent of the cattle in Honduras and one-third of the cattle in Costa Rica and Panama; farmers with less than 70 hectares own 42 per cent of the livestock in Nicaragua (Direction de Estadistica y Censo 1987; IICA 1993a; Ventura 1992; Holman 1994). Farmers with less than 92 hectares in Guatemala own only 30 per cent of the cattle (Colchester and Lohmann 1993). In all the countries small farmers play an important role in calf and dairy production.

The high percentage of cattle in the hands of small farmers in Nicaragua is largely a result of the agrarian reform process begun in 1979. Agrarian reform and colonisation programmes were also important in creating group s of small dairy and dual-purpose producers on the south coast of Guatemala, in northern Costa Rica, and along the north coast of Honduras.

The Implications for Policy

Policy instruments which operate through livestock and forest product prices are more likely to influence the land use patterns of investment ranchers and of ranchers in traditional livestock grazing areas than of ranchers who live on the agricultural frontier. Similarly, changes in credit policy are only likely to be relevant for those ranchers with potential access to public credit. A large portion of land and cattle in agricultural frontier areas is owned by ranchers who have low supply elasticities for the livestock production and minimal access to public credit. Poor public enforcement of property rights gives groups with private access to means of coercion a competitive advantage.

THE ROLE OF MARKET FORCES IN THE CATTLE-FOREST RELATIONSHIP

This section analyses how changes in international and domestic markets for beef and dairy products have affected the supply of cattle and changes in land-use patterns. It first examines the export market for beef, then looks at the domestic demand for beef, and finally discusses changes in dairy markets.

The Hamburger Connection

In 1981, Myers coined the term "the hamburger connection" to describe how the expanding US market for Central American beef generated a cattle boom that in turn led to widespread deforestation. Prior to the 1950s, Central American cattle exports were limited to small numbers of live cattle sold by Honduras and Nicaragua to neighbouring countries.But that changed when the first export meat-packing plant opened in 1957 and it became possible to export large amounts of pasture-fed, "low-quality" beef to the US market.

During the 1960s, rising real incomes in the United States led to a 20 per cent increase in per capita beef consumption and the rapid growth in fast food and supermarket chains generated new demands for beef imports (Williams 1986). The demand for ground beef in particular grew even more after 1973, when rising petroleum prices pushed up the cost of producing feed grains and fatty grain-fed beef increasingly became a luxury for US consumers, leading them to shift to less-expensive hamburger (Edelman 1985).

In the early years, Central American beef producers had almost unlimited access to the US market. Before 1964, there were few restrictions on US beef imports, and although the US Meat Import Act of 1964 theoretically instituted a system of import quotas, none was imposed between 1965 and 1968. Soon after, the Central Americans accepted a system of voluntary export restrictions but, except for a brief period around 1974, these did not pose any serious problem for exporters (Slutsky 1979).

Central American beef exporters were also able to take advantage of high international meat prices, particularly between 1965 and 1974 (Howard 1987). As a result, Central American beef exports rose from \$9 million in 1961 to \$290 million in 1979, and the amount of beef exported increased eight and a half times (Williams 1986). By the end of the period, the region had 28 modern meat-packing plants authorised to export to the United States. Costa Rica and Nicaragua were larger exporters than Guatemala and Honduras, while Panama exported only marginal amounts. Rising international beef prices were reflected in increasing domestic prices for cattle (León *et al.* 1982)¹¹. This, in turn, undoubtedly stimulated the live-stock sector as a whole ¹².

The export boom had its most direct effect on medium and large ranchers who fattened cattle for sale to the export-packing plants and on the investors who owned those plants. It had much less effect on small ranchers who focused more on milk production and the sale of older cattle to local slaughterhouses. When small farmers did produce calves and steers to be fattened and exported, they typically received only a small percentage of the final export price.

After the mid-1970s, the outlook for Central American beef exports worsened. International beef prices were low between 1975 and 1977, rose for a few years, and then started falling again after 1980, from which they have still not recovered (See Table 7). Two reasons for this were that the European Economic Community went from being a net beef importer to becoming a net exporter and per capita beef consumption in the US fell after 1977 as consumers became more health conscious and real incomes stagnated (Howard 1987; Brockett 1988).

Year	Price
1960 1965 1970 1975 1980 1985	246 282 359 203 265 215
1903	180

Table 7. Real international meat prices 1960 - 1990 (cents/kilogram, constant 1985 dollars)

The effect of declining international beef prices on beef producers' incomes was aggravated by policies leading to over-valued exchange rates and government price controls. In Nicaragua, in particular, over-valued exchange rates and low cattle prices paid to ranchers by the government (which nationalised meat exports in 1979) lowered the share of international prices that ranchers received (Cajina 1986; Biondi-Morra 1990). This situation improved after 1984, when the government started to purchase part of the cattle exported in dollars, but it continued to dampen local beef prices throughout the 1980s (Jarquin and Videa 1990). Honduras' exchange rate was also increasingly over-valued through the 1980s and in Costa Rica price controls on beef imposed in the mid-1970s reduced real beef prices (Leon *et al.* 1982).

At the same time cattle ranchers' costs rose. In Panama, for example, the cost of ranching inputs such as wire, herbicides, vaccines, nutritional supplements, and other items increased far more than beef prices between the mid-1970s and the mid-1980s (Heckadon 1984). The situation was similar in Nicaragua (Biondi-Morra 1990). Beef export taxes also rose substantially in both Costa Rica and Nicaragua (Edelman 1994; Siles and Hemandez 1994).

If these problems weren't bad enough, in 1979, the US Congress passed a more restrictive meat import act which substantially reduced Central America's access to the US market. The United States also began to strictly enforce laws prohibiting the import of sub-standard beef and beef with pesticide residues, leading on several occasions to the closure of the US market to beef exports from Costa Rica. Guatemala and Honduras (Banco de Guatemala 1981 b; Edelman 1985). Between 1985 and 1993, the US government prohibited meat imports from Nicaragua, first as a political sanction against the Sandinista government, and later because Nicaragua's export plants had not yet been certified by American slaughterhouse inspectors. Panama's beef export s to the US were also blocked for political reasons between 1987 and 1990. On the pri vate side, Burger King, which at one time bought 70 per cent of Costa Rican beef exports, decided in 1987 not to buy any more Latin American beef due to criticism about the "hamburger connection" (Van der Kamp 1990).

These growing difficulties in maintaining access to the US beef market forced Central America to seek other markets for its meat. In 1980, the Guatemalan Congress authorised the export of 50,000 head of live cattle to Mexico and the following year it signed a trade agreement with Mexico which allowed Guatemala to export \$18 million worth of cattle (Brockett 1988).At different times during the 1980s, almost all the Central American countries exported live cattle and meat to Mexico, which became a significant market and paid higher prices for beef than the United States. Recently, however, Mexico has imposed new tariffs on Central American beef and cattle exports and, due in part to the North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA,) an increasing portion of Mexican meat imports have come from the US (Foreign Agricultural Service 1994). It is doubtful whether Central America will continue to be competitive in the Mexican market once NAFTA becomes fully operational (Barquero 1994).

Nicaragua began to export meat to Canada when the United States imposed its trade embargo in 1985. Canada, however, paid lower prices than the US and also used quantitative restrictions to limit Nicaraguan exports (Cajina 1986).

Thus, ultimately low international prices combined with reduced US demand led to a substantial drop in exports. Between 1978 and 1985, Central American beef exports declined from 120 million metric tons to only 49 million tons, and the income they generated fell from 213 million dollars to 91 million (Torres-Rivas 1989). After that, meat exports began to rise again, and by 1992 had reached 74 million metric tons and 135 million dollars. However in real terms they remained well below the levels of the 1970s (See Table 8).

	61	66	71	76	81	86	91
Costa Rica	2.8	5.6	21.1	41.7	79.7	68.3	71.3
Guatemala	0.8	6.1	19.1	20.0	51.1	4.8	29.6
Honduras	1.5	3.9	12.5	25.7	47.3	17.4	28.9
Nicaragua	4.0	6.7	28.9	40.5	21.3	5.6	38.7
Panama	0.1	0.0	1.4	3.8	5.1	0.0	12.3
Total	9.2	22.3	83.0	131.7	204.5	96.1	181.2

Table 8. Central American meat exports 1961- 1991 (excluding ElSalvador) (million dollars)

Source: USDA, World Agricultural Trade Indexes

The combination of low prices, weak demand and rising costs reduced the profitability of beef production (León *et al.* 1982; Howard 1987; Camacho 1989; Stonich 1989). Numerous studies in the 1980s and 1990s showed that when profitability was calculated using full opportunity costs for land, capital and labour, and without including capital gains from rising land prices, cattle production was not profitable for most ranchers during this period (Banco de Guatemala 1981a; Leon *et al.* 1982; Edelman 1985; Jarquin 1990; Van der Kamp 1990; Ventura 1992; Holman 1993; IICA 1993a; Mercado 1993). Nevertheless, profitability varied significantly between ranches and ranching still appeared profitable when one compared gross receipts with immediate cash outlays, without taking into account the opportunity costs of the land and cattle involved (Jarquin 1990, 1991; Schwartz 1990; Convenio MAG-DNA-GTZ 1991; Ventura 1992; Didier 1993; Hering and Jaendl 1993; Maldidier 1993).

There is also evidence that within the livestock sector, cattle fattening continued to be the most profitable activity and large ranches tended to be more profitable than small ones (Namdar and Levard 1984; Biondi-Morra 1990; Van der Kamp 1990; Ventura 1992; AHT-APESA 1992; IICA 1993a; Merlet 1994). The only exception to this was Costa Rica, where strong consumer demand and protectionist policies made milk production more profitable than beef production, and there has been a major increase in dual-purpose herds, at the expense of cattle fattening (Van der Kamp 1990; Motte and Billan 1994; Ortiz 1994).

Ranchers responded to the profit squeeze in beef production for export in different ways, depending on their available alternatives, liquidity, and the role of livestock within their systems of production. Fewer new investors entered cattle production after 1979, except for specific situations where rising land prices and available subsidised credit made ranching profitable for other reasons. Instead, these investors invested their money in non-traditional agricultural exports, tourism, short-term money notes, and commercial real estate.

With the initial price declines, many traditional medium and large ranchers retained their cattle to wait for higher prices. When prices did not improve, they were often forced to sell their cattle to pay their debts (Howard 1987; Van der Kamp 1990). Many heavily indebted ranchers and smaller ranchers with minimal liquidity were forced out of business entirely (Van der Weide 1986; Escuela de Ciencias Agrarias 1987; Maldidier 1993). Large private ranchers in Nicaragua who, during the 1980s, faced not only declining profitability but also the threat of expropriation under the agrarian reform, ran down their assets by not replacing their bulls, neglecting their pastures, or slaughtering cows of reproductive age (Biondi-Morra 1990).

Other producers, however, changed their behaviour little or even increased their investment in cattle. The influence of price changes on many smaller and more isolated ranchers was limited, since these ranchers had few viable alternatives given labour constraints, ecological conditions and limited market access (Hijfte 1989). There were probably also some traditional large ranchers who did not greatly vary their activities. With rapid inflation in Nicaragua in the late 1980s, investment in cattle was one of the few effective hedges against inflation. This led many production co-operatives created during the agrarian reform to purchase cattle between 1985 and 1988 (Lutz 1993). Throughout the entire period medium and large farmers continued to purchase new farms on the agricultural frontier to take advantage of the comparatively low land prices.

While flourishing export markets for beef clearly promoted pasture expansion and deforestation in the 1960s and 1970s, the impact of reduced beef exports is less clear. As shown earlier, most of the decline in cattle population in the 1980s and 1990s was in traditional livestock regions, while pasture expansion and deforestation continued in many agricultural frontier areas. This is consistent with the idea that declining markets had their greatest effect on investment ranchers and large ranchers located in traditional cattle zones who had more alternative uses for their land and labour, and influenced ranchers on the agricultural frontier relatively little.

The Domestic Demand for Beef

The literature criticising the Central American beef export boom of the 1960s and 1970s frequently points to the fact that, during the period, average per capita beef consumption actually declined in the region (Nations and Komer 1983; Williams 1986; Stonich 1989; Lehmann 1991). Nevertheless, thanks to population growth of over 3 per cent per year during that period, stagnant per capita consumption did not preclude a major increase in total domestic beef consumption, which reinforced the growth in the demand for beef for export.

During the 1980s and 1990, the situation was more complex. Declining real incomes throughout much of the region and technological changes which greatly reduced real poultry prices lowered
beef consumption.For each 1 per cent decline in real income in Central America, the demand for meat fell between 0.5 and 0.8 per cent (Solera-Ruiz 1981; Jarvis 1986). At the same time, however, over-valued exchange rates and reduced access to foreign markets favoured the local sale of beef.

The net result of these contradictory tendencies varied between countries. In Costa Rica, both absolute and per capita beef consumption rose, and compensated to a certain extent for the decline in exports (See Table 9). The percentage of Costa Rican beef production exported fell from 50-60 per cent in the late 1970s to only 29 per cent in 1989 (Van der Kamp 1990; Lehmann 1991). A similar process occurred in Nicaragua during the mid-1980s (Holman 1993).

	1976183	1984/91
Costa Rica	20.4	22.9
El Salvador	6.1	5.1
Guatemala	5.3	3.8
Honduras	8.5	6.6
Nicaragua	15.4	8.6
Panama	26.1	26.7
Total	11.9	10.2

Table 9. Per capita beef consumption in Central America 1976/83 and 1984/91 (kg/person)

Source: CIAT 1993

The situation in Guatemala and Nicaragua in the late 1980s and early 1990s was different. In both countries declining real incomes led not only to lower per capita beef consumption, but also to a smaller total domestic demand for beef (Holman 1993; MAGA 1993). In these countries, trends in domestic demand exacerbated the problem rather than compensating for the decline in beef exports.

Milk Imports and Exports and the Domestic Demand for Dairy Products

The livestock and deforestation literature has largely ignored the trends in dairy markets. This is a mistake since a large percentage of Central America's cattle has always formed part of dual purpose livestock systems (Vargas *et al.* 199 1; Holman *et al.* 1992; Holman 1993, Sarmiento 1992). In these systems dairy products not only provide a large percentage of total earnings, but also play a major role in maintaining a regular cash flow.

The production and consumption of pasteurised milk and other industrialised dairy products grew rapidly in the 1960s and 1970s. Between 1970 and 1981, fresh milk consumption in Central America rose 4.2 per cent yearly (Jarvis 1986). Dairy companies such as Borden and Dos Pinos in Costa Rica, Prolacsa, La Perfecta, La Selecta and El Eskimo in Nicaragua, Leyden in Honduras, and Nestles and Chiricana de Leche in Panama offered ranchers secure markets and succeeded in greatly expanding milk production in their supply areas (Cajina 1986; Camacho 1989; Ventura 1992). At least in some specific areas, such as eastern Matagalpa and Chontales in Nicaragua and, later, northern Alajuela in Costa Rica and Atlantida in Honduras, they probably also stimulated the clearance of primary forests (S. Humphries, personal communication). Cloud forests were particularly susceptible to being cleared for milk production because dairy cattle thrive best at higher elevations.

As with beef during the 1980s and 1990s, however, many of Central America's dairy markets became less attractive for producers. The stagnation of domestic milk consumption was one reason for this, but government price controls and the flooding of domestic markets with dairy imports were perhaps even more important.

The only country where per capita dairy consumption declined significantly during the last fifteen years was Nicaragua, where it is now about half of what it was in the 1970s (Holman 1993). In the remaining countries, per capita consumption has been stable or has slightly increased. Over time, however, milk imports have satisfied an increasing portion of the domestic demand. Regional dairy imports rose from \$14.8 million in 1975 to \$47.4 million in 1990 and, by 1991, accounted for 18 per cent of all regional dairy consumption (Nuñez and Galetto 1993) (See Table 10). Milk imports were particularly high in Nicaragua between 1982 and 1988 and in Guatemala between 1986 and 1990. These imports have had an especially depressive effect on domestic milk prices because a large percentage were donations, which were often sold locally at below market prices (Garst and Barry 1990). The only country which has made a serious effort to protect its national dairy markets from foreign dumping is Costa Rica, where milk production grew at an average annual rate of 4.8 per cent between 1982 and 1994, and which went from being a net importer of dairy products to recently becoming a net exporter (Holman *et al.* 1992; Motte and Billan 1994).

	1970	1975	1980	1985	1990
Costa Rica	0.7	2.7	6.3	2.3	5.3
Guatemala	2.3	2.6	12.3	8.2	24.7
Honduras	2.6	4.9	10.4	13.7	10.0
Nicaragua	0.9	1.5	3.4	10.4	4.2
Panama	1.3	3.1	7.9	6.0	4.2
Total	7.8	14.8	40.3	40.6	48.4

Table 10. Central American milk imports 1970- 1990 (excluding El Salvador) (million dollars)

Source: USDA, World Agricultural Trade Indexes

Domestic milk prices have also been depressed by government price controls. Costa Rica has had controls since 1973 (Camacho 1989). Nicaragua not only had price controls during the 1980s, but the government also owned the most important processing plants and set the prices at which the plants purchased milk from farmers. In Guatemala, price controls were instituted in 1972, partially lifted in 1981, and then re-imposed at different times between 1985 and 1991 (RUTA 1993). Controls have also been used in Honduras and Panama.

The combined effect of subsidised imports, government price controls and stagnant markets has been to reduce real milk prices. Real milk prices in Costa Rica were 11 per cent lower on average between 1987 and 1993 than they had been between 1980 and 1986 (Camacho 1989; Nufiez and Galetto 1993). At the same time real wages, land prices and input prices rose much faster than productivity, leading to a sharp deterioration in dairy farmers' real net incomes (Holman *et al.* 1992). Real milk prices in Guatemala during the 1987- 1993 period were also substantially lower than during the previous seven years (RUTA 1993). Panamanian ranchers received the same nominal price for their milk in 1991 as they had in 1983, despite major cost increases in that period (Sarmiento 1992)¹³

Nevertheless, in all the countries except Nicaragua, milk production rose during the last fifteen years, despite declining real prices. In 1991, milk production in Honduras, Panama and Costa Rica was 54 per cent, 50 per cent and 45 per cent higher than it had been in 1981 (Nuñez and Galetto 1993). This reflects the limited alternatives available to small- and medium-sized ranchers in which to invest their resources and the great premium small producers place on having a steady cash flow, a relatively assured market for their production and, in some cases, credit and technical assistance provided by the milk plants.

The Implications for Policy

Policy instruments which lower producer prices for beef and milk such as over-valued exchange rates, measures which dampen domestic incomes, price controls, protectionist measures in beef-importing countries, consumer beef boycotts in developed countries, and policies facilitating dairy imports will all discourage cattle production and hence the pressure for clearance of forest for pasture. Only a small reduction can be expected in response to moderate policy changes, however, and pasture area may well decline in traditional cattle-grazing areas which are more suited for livestock, but continue in the poor soil, humid tropical areas along the agricultural frontier. There may also be discontinuities in the responses to policy changes with initial large reductions in pasture area, as investment ranchers reduce their holdings, but only minimal further declines in pasture area, as the remaining pasture lands are controlled by farmers with low supply elasticities with respect to these policy changes. Overall, these policy instruments are probably not appropriate mechanisms for controlling deforestation.

GOVERNMENT SUBSIDIES FOR LIVESTOCK AND PUBLIC ROAD CONSTRUCTION

This section focuses on how and why governments have used subsidies that foster forest clearance. It first looks at the role of national and international interest groups in this process, then analyses government subsidies through credit and road construction 1^{4} .

Interest Groups Favouring Government Support for Cattle

Large cattle ranchers have always been among the most powerful and well organised groups in Central America. The annals of Central American history are filled with presidents, generals, ministers and congressmen whose family wealth had its origins in extensive cattle ranches. In addition, ranchers associations such as the Guanacaste Chamber of Ranchers (CGG), the Nicaraguan Ranchers Federation (FAGANIC), the National Federation of Farmers and Ranchers of Honduras (FENAGH), and Panama's National Ranchers Association (AGAN) have traditionally been quite successful in lobbying to protect their interests (Edelman 1982; Guess 1992). These groups' major concerns have been to increase their access to subsidised credit, avoid land expropriations and squatting, limit government price controls, eliminate cattle rustling, and protect dairy producers from foreign competition.

During the 1960s and 1970s, international agencies such as the World Bank, Inter-American Development Bank (IDB) and the US Agency for International Development (USAID) also supported efforts to promote beef production and exports as a central focus of economic growth (Williams 1986). Over half of the World Bank and IDB loans to the region between 1963 and 1980 for agriculture and rural development directly supported beef production for export (Brockett 1988). By 1985, these loans had provided \$364 million to finance livestock credit, slaughter houses, technical assistance and animal health services (Howard 1987).

Central American government officials generally supported cattle production in the hope of diversifying exports beyond the traditional mainstays of coffee and bananas, and military officers often saw pasture expansion in frontier areas as a way to extend a government's effective control over the entire national territory (Heckadon 1984).

In the 1970s, however, the cattle industry came under increasing criticism on both environmental and social grounds. The publication of an influential article by James Parsons in 1976 prompted a series of critical studies focusing on the negative effects of livestock expansion on forests (Parsons 1976; Shane 1980; Myers 1981; DeWalt 1982). The rising pressure for agrarian reform in the region also highlighted what was considered to be the under-utilisation of many pasture areas. In response to these pressures, the international agencies began to reduce their support for the cattle industry.

The military governments in Honduras and Panama in the mid-1970s and the Sandinista government in Nicaragua during the 1980s were also less attentive to the interests of the larger ranchers than their predecessors. With the political changes in these three countries in 1990, however, ranching interests have once again returned to major positions of power within the agricultural sector. Thus it was no coincidence that, in 1994, five of the six ministers of agriculture in Central America were cattle ranchers.

Livestock Credit

The ebbs and flows of political support for the livestock industry have been directly reflected in the terms and availability of livestock credit. During the beef export boom in the 1960s and early 1970s, the amount of livestock credit in real terms and the percentage of agricultural credit allocated to livestock grew rapidly in all the countries. By 1970, livestock was receiving 43 per cent of government agricultural loans in Honduras, 39 per cent in Nicaragua, 37 per cent in Costa Rica and 22 per cent in Guatemala, and this percentage tended to grow during the following three or four years (Williams 1986)¹⁵. These percentages were generally much higher than the contribution of livestock to total agricultural production.

Livestock credit provided during this period was heavily subsidised, went predominantly to cattle fattening, and was allocated to a relatively small group of ranchers¹⁶. Subsidies were provided through both below market interest rates and leniency with respect to loan recuperation. In Costa Rica, for example, real interest rates for livestock credit were negative between 1970 and 1983, at times reaching below -10 per cent. Almost one-third of the money loaned for livestock during this period was not recuperated on time, as opposed to only 16 per cent of loans for agriculture and 19 per cent of loans for industry (Aguilar and Solis 1988). Real interest rates in the PRODE-GA livestock project in Guatemala averaged -3.4 per cent (World Bank 1978). Interest rates in Panama were also historically subsidised, although usually positive in real terms (Boyer *et al.* 1990). Public sector cattle loans in that country were periodically discharged, and borrowers who did not repay previous loans frequently received new ones (Ledec 1992b). Central American governments also indirectly subsidised cattle loans by placing ceilings on the interest rates which could be charged by private banks.

Subsidised credit for cattle promoted deforestation in several ways (Ledec 1992b). Credit helped ranchers to overcome capital constraints, which would have otherwise limited pasture expansion. Interviews by the author in 1994 in Petén, Guatemala, for example, show that often the major reason why large ranchers have deforested only a portion of their land holdings is that they do not have the \$36,000 to \$90,000 required to clear, fence and plant pastures on their 450-hectare holdings. Large ranchers also used a significant amount of livestock credit directly to purchase lands which they might otherwise have been unable to afford ¹⁷. Traditionally, a rancher's ability to expand his or her area or cattle herd had been largely limited by the herd's natural growth rate or his or her ability to accumulate money from some other source, but with the appearance of government credit programmes this ceased to be the case (Merlet 1992).

Credit subsidies made livestock a more attractive investment prospect compared to other alternatives and, even when the credit was not subsidised, it still made livestock more attractive because it transferred risk from ranchers to the banks. If the venture failed there was a high probability that the bank, rather than the rancher, would eventually assume a large portion of the loss. Subsidised cattle credit also created incentives for landholders to establish pastures on previously forested land simply to qualify for the credit, which could then be diverted to non-cattle investments. Indirectly, subsidised credit raised land prices, which promoted land speculation since banks would often not accept forested land as collateral. This provided an incentive for ranchers to deforest the land to improve their access to credit (World Bank 1993)¹⁸.

Another way that credit promoted deforestation was by facilitating the transfer of cattle from ranchers with sufficient pasture resources to others who needed to clear new lands to maintain their newly acquired cattle. Thus, for example, in recent years the concentration of livestock credit in the hands of a few large ranchers in Nicaragua has allowed these ranchers to purchase cattle from smaller ranchers who lack liquidity (Maldidier 1993). Once the cattle are purchased, the ranchers must acquire additional land to maintain them, often in previously forested areas, while much of the smaller farmers' pastures is subsequently abandoned.

Nevertheless, the role of subsidised public credit in the conversion of forest to pasture should not be exaggerated. Ledec's (1992b) dissertation on the impact of livestock credit on deforestation concludes that only about 7 to 10 per cent of all Panamanian deforestation could be attributed to public livestock credit. Moreover, most of this deforestation was of small forested areas outside the agricultural frontier. He notes that in general banks prefer to lend to large established ranchers in traditional cattle-raising areas, rather than to the relatively small colonist ranchers who are active in frontier areas. Other evidence which supports Ledec's thesis that subsidised public credit has been important in accelerating the forest-to-pasture conversion process but is not essential to that process include multiple regression and linear programming models of livestock production in Costa Rica, which show that beef cattle production is quite inelastic in its response to credit availability and variations in interest rates, and the experience of rapid pasture expansion in Petén and eastern Honduras, despite the fact that relatively little public livestock credit has been available in those areas (Solera-Ruíz 1981)¹⁹.

In the last fifteen years public livestock credit has become less available and less subsidised. Lending for livestock reached its peak in Guatemala in 1973 and then declined through 1989 (Vargas *et al.* 1991). Since 1986 ranchers have received little public credit (RUTA 1993). In Costa Rica, the decline began in 1981 and, by 1989, livestock lending had fallen to the same level as in 1970 (Holman *et al.* 1992). Lending in Honduras, Nicaragua and Panama rose until the second half of the 1980s but then fell abruptly (Jarquín and Videa 1990; SRN 1991; Ventura 1992; Sarmiento 1992; Maldidier 1993). In the latter part of the 1980s, real interest rates have risen substantially and Nicaragua now

has loan provisions which automatically adjust loan repayment rates whenever the national currency loses value in relation to the dollar (Aguilar and Solis 1988; CATIE 1990; Siles and Hernández 1994). These changes reflect the unfavourable market conditions in the sector itself, as well as declining international support for subsidised public agricultural credit in general, and for livestock credit in particular.

Faced with unfavourable market conditions and falling government support, the ranchers associations have pressured governments for greater assistance. In certain instances they have succeeded for short periods, but in general they have been unable to maintain government support for more than a few years.

One example of this is the Agricultural Development Program (FODEA) in Costa Rica. In that case, as a result of unfavourable market conditions, by 1987 nearly two-thirds of Costa Rican banks' cattle loans were in arrears and cattle ranchers began heavily pressuring the government for debt relief (Czel 1990). This resulted in passage of the 1987 "FODEA" law, which cancelled certain debts, provided longer pay-back periods for others, and generally lowered interest rates on past debts (Hijtie 1989). The law provided ranchers with an annual subsidy of \$16 million in 1988 and 1989, the vast majority of which went to large ranchers (Lutz and Daly 1991; World Bank 1993). Under similar circumstances, in 1985 the Honduran government created a \$2.5 million "compensatory fund" to reactivate the livestock sector, which directly subsidised the cattle-purchasing price paid by the packing houses, and in 1993 the Nicaraguan government extended repayment periods on short-term cattle loans when 78 per cent of loan recipients fell behind in their payments (Ventura 1992; Siles and Hemández 1994). In none of these cases, however, were the subsidy programmes maintained for more than a few years.

Probably the only country where reduced access to subsidised credit has had a major impact on cattle production is Nicaragua, where most ranchers have major liquidity problems after years of political turmoil and economic crisis. Large areas of pasture in that country have been under-utilised or abandoned because landowners lack money to purchase cattle (Maldidier 1993; Matus *et al.* 1993; Mercado 1993). Smaller ranchers and production co-operatives have been particularly affected²⁰.

In the other countries, the decline in credit availability has had some effect, but it has probably been greater in traditional cattle grazing regions than along the agricultural frontier.

Road Construction

If there is one single government policy which has had a major and indisputable impact on promoting conversion of forest to pasture, it is road construction in forested regions (Jones 1990; Van der Kamp 1990; Deacon 1992; AHT-APESA 1992; Ledec 1992b). This is reflected in a 1987 statistical analysis of deforestation in northern Honduras, which found that "those areas nearest to roads are most susceptible to deforestation. The further an area from a road, the smaller the percentage of (area) affected by deforestation. Beyond five kilometers there was a rapid drop in the percentage cleared" (Ludeke 1987: 76). In Panama it has been shown that "colonisation and eventual deforestation are likely to occur within 2-10 kilometers of either side of an all-weather rural road which has penetrated a frontier area. This implies a deforestation area of influence of 400 to 2000 hectares for each new kilometer of road built in forested zones" (Ledec 1992b: 199). Similarly, in Costa Rica, Sader and Joyce (1988) found that in 1977 the mean distance from nearest road or railroad to non-forest locations was only 5.5 kilometres compared to a mean distance from forest locations of 14.2 kilometres. The magnitude of forest destruction that road building has caused can easily be understood if one considers that between 1953 and 1978 the length of all-weather roads in Central America rose from 8,350 kilometres to 26,700 kilometres (Williams 1986).

Road construction promotes the conversion of forest to pasture both directly and indirectly. By providing access to new areas it makes it easier to enter and deforest, and cheaper to transport cattle and dairy products from the area. The latter is of fundamental importance since often transportation costs are the major determinants of land-use patterns in agricultural frontier areas (Schneider 1994). Roads also stimulate land speculation, a topic discussed in greater detail below.

Some public road construction in forested areas has been associated with specific colonisation projects such as the Rigoberto Cabezas (PRICA) project in Nueva Guinea in Nicaragua, the Northern Transversal Strip Land Resettlement Project in northern Guatemala, the Aguan Valley colonisation programme in Honduras, and the agrarian reform settlements in northern and eastern Costa Rica (Fledderjohn and Thompson 1982; Jones 1990; Merlet 1992; Walker *et al.* 1993). Most activity, however, has been limited to independent road construction. Private feeder-road construction by lumber companies has been another major problem (Herlihy and Herlihy 1992; Ledec 1992b; Utting 1993). After these companies extract the wood they are interested in, they leave behind feeder roads which greatly facilitate the subsequent arrival of agricultural colonists and ranchers. In some cases in Guatemala, lumber companies have even offered to build roads for communities in return for access to the wood on their farms. Often, these feeder roads have a much greater negative impact on the environmental services provided by the forests than does the extraction of wood itself. Similar problems have occurred with publicly constructed roads designed to provide access to mineral, petroleum and hydroelectric resources in northern Guatemala and western Panama (Utting 1993).

Unlike favourable market conditions and credit subsidies which tended to disappear in the 1980s, public road construction in forested areas continued largely unabated. The annual expansion of roads in Costa Rica, for example, increased from 6.5 per cent between 1974 and 1980 to 10.4 per cent between 1981 and 1990, with much of the new growth being financed by the USAID Northern Zone project in the heavily forested northern portion of Alajuela (Holman et al. 1992; Girot 1989). New roads such as the Chiriqui - Bocas del Toro highway in Panama, the route between Las Cruces and El Naranjo in Peten, Guatemala, and the roads connecting Rio Blanco and Siuna and Nueva Guinea and Bluefields have recently brought floods of colonists to previously forested areas (Flores et al. 1994; Jones 1990). There are also currently plans to close the only remaining gap in the Panamerican Highway which is in the forested area of Darien, Panama, and to greatly improve most of the existing main roads in Peten, Guatemala,

In some instances Central American governments have attempted to control settlement, land speculation and deforestation along newly constructed roads, but invariably they have failed. In Panama, for example, in 1973 the government banned settlement within an 8kilometre radius of the newly constructed section of the Panamerican highway between Tirao and Canglon in Darien. The attempts failed, however, and by 1984 there were already 9,729 people living in that area (Herlihy 1989). Similarly, the Costa Rican government declared that most of the area to be crossed by a new road between San Jose and Guapiles as a national park before the road was announced, and tried to strictly enforce prohibitions on land clearing. They were also unable to stop major deforestation near the road in a number of areas (Sader and Joyce 1988; Van der Kamp 1990).

In many areas, the principal justification for government road building in the 1980s was to facilitate military access to areas of armed conflict or potential conflict. This was certainly the case in northern and eastern Nicaragua, northern Costa Rica, south-eastern Honduras and northern Guatemala. Unfortunately, however, these areas were propitious for non-conventional warfare precisely because of the presence of large forested areas where it was easy for troops to hide and difficult for their opponents to reach. By opening up these areas to greater troop mobility, the Central American governments and their foreign sponsors greatly facilitated the process of deforestation.

As much as any other single factor, the continued growth in roads during the 1980s and 1990s helps to explain why, despite the loss of favourable markets and subsidised credit, land clearance on the agricultural frontier continued throughout Central America.

The Implications for Policy

Restricting livestock credit in agricultural frontier regions can contribute to reducing forest clearance for pasture. Credit for cattle fattening is likely to promote greater land clearance than credit for dairy farming and calf production, because it generates multiplier effects in the livestock production system and is associated with more extensive production systems. The implications of providing livestock credit outside of agricultural frontier areas must be examined on a case-bycase basis.

Road construction and improvement in agricultural frontier regions will almost invariably promote rapid deforestation. Governments almost always lack the capacity to enforce restrictions on settlement and land clearance around new roads.

THE ROLE OF GOVERNMENT LAND POLICIES AND LAND MARKETS

The characteristics of local land markets and government land policies have a major impact on how quickly new lands are incorporated into farms and cleared. This section first discusses Central American land markets and then looks at land acquisition and titling policies, colonisation schemes, agrarian reform efforts, protected areas indigenous land rights, extractive reserves and land taxes.

Land Markets and Land Conversion

Purchasing, claiming, or forcibly grabbing rural lands in Central America has traditionally been quite profitable. In northern Costa Rica, for example, real land prices have been rising steadily since at least 1875. "Particularly after 1932, land prices in the region began a slow climb which assured long-term gains for the patient investor" (Edelman 1985: 167). This process accelerated rapidly during the 1970s, with land prices quadrupling during the decade in San Carlos, Liberia, Bagaces, Nicoya and Tilaran (Aguilar and Solís 1988).

In Guatemala, real land prices in the Petén and other northern departments have risen rapidly since at least the mid-1970s (Colchester and Lohmann 1993). "Between the 1970s and the mid to late 1980s, land values in Peten rose from less than 10 quetzales to 27 quetzales to about 45 quetzales or more" (Schwartz 1990: 269). Real land prices in the Guatemalan south-coast livestock departments rose about 8 per cent per year from 1974 to 1988 (Shearer *et al.* 1993). Rapid increases in real land prices in recent years have also been reported in agricultural frontier regions in Atlantida and Colon in northern Honduras (Hernández-Mora 1994).

Probably the only country in Central America where real land prices have not risen in recent years is Nicaragua, where political instability, economic crisis and land-tenure insecurity have kept land prices low (Matus *et al.* 1993). Even there, however, newly incorporated lands on the agricultural frontier grow rapidly in value as they become more accessible.

One major reason values have risen over time is that land has become more accessible as a result of the road construction discussed above (Edelman 1985). "Heckadon reports that land prices in the Tonosi district of Los Santos province in Panama increased from less than 50 dollars per hectare before road access was established, to more than 100 dollars immediately thereafter" (Ledec 1992b: 96). Similarly, cattle lands along the road from Mulukuku to Siuna in Nicaragua sold for \$112 to \$140 per hectare in 1992, while comparable lands one day's walk from the road cost \$30 to \$40 dollars per hectare, and land in the most isolated places was worth only \$10 (Maldidier 1993). In some areas of Petén, Guatemala, land prices have doubled or even tripled in the last few years in anticipation of new road construction. Public investment in utilities, agro-industrial processing plants and subsidised credit has also been capitalised into land prices (Edelman 1985; Holman *et al.* 1992). Land is frequently purchased or claimed that is currently unprofitable for farming in anticipation of future road construction that will lower transportation costs and make cattle raising attractive (Schneider 1994).

Other factors which have encouraged higher land prices have been high beef and milk prices during certain periods and rising demographic pressure (Escuela de Ciencias Agrarias 1987; Holman *et al.* 1992). In Costa Rica, the expansion of tourism, subsidised reforestation and banana and citrus production have also been important in the 1980s.

Several authors have also pointed to a purely speculative component to land prices which "involves people attributing to deforested land an asset value that is well in excess of its actual production value" (Ledec 1992b: 96). Griffith and Zepeda (1994) have used linear programming techniques to show that the shadow price of land for small milk producers in Monteverde, Costa Rica, is substantially lower then the land's market value and in certain instances may not justify the cost of even clearing the land. According to Shearer et al. (1993) "money laundering, labour remittances, and a hedge against inflation and devaluation help keep land prices above their value solely for production." There may also be what the literature calls "rational bubbles", in which ranchers expect land prices to rise so they become willing to pay higher land prices, which in turn bids up market prices and converts their expectations into self-fulfilling prophecies (Clark et al. 1993). An additional factor fuelling land speculation in several countries has been the purchase of large ranches by governments and international agencies at higher than prevailing market prices for land redistribution, refugee resettlement or conservation areas (Edelman 1992: Kaimowitz 1995). The imperfect nature of rural financial markets in many agricultural frontier areas also means that the local population has few alternative opportunities for savings and investment besides purchasing land.

Not only have land prices tended to rise, but deforested lands usually sell for much higher prices than forested lands (Ledec 1992b; World Bank 1993). In Peten, Guatemala, for example, deforested land typically sells for approximately \$80 more per hectare on average than land with degraded forest (Kaimowitz 1995). This is in part a reflection of the labour invested in land clearance (known throughout Central America as "mejoras" or "improvements") and in part due to the more secure land-tenure status of deforested lands, discussed below. There are even people in some places who have made land clearance practically an occupation, moving into forest land and clearing it in order to sell it for a price reflecting the implicit wage cost of land clearing (Cruz *et al.* 1992).

At the same time, land price increases caused by urbanisation in peri-urban areas such as the Central Valley of Costa Rica and the area around Guatemala City, have made specialised dairy production in these areas less profitable than parcelling the land and building houses on it. This has promoted the search for new regions for milk production, such as the (previously forested) northern portion of Alajuela in Costa Rica (Camacho 1989). Similarly, as land prices rose rapidly on the South Coast in Guatemala, due in part to the expansion of sugar cane production, south-coast ranchers sought cheaper lands in frontier areas in Izabal and the Petén (World Bank 1978).

The rise in land prices has been so significant in agricultural frontier areas, that a large percentage of pasture expansion may have as much or more to do with land speculation as with cattle raising per se²¹. For example, a Banco de Guatemala survey (1981: 63) of large ranchers in Peten, Guatemala, found that despite the fact that "financial calculations show that ranches take six to nine years before they have positive cash flows and the internal rate of return is substantially below other investment opportunities . . . The ranchers interviewed... were optimistic thanks to: 1) the opportunity to obtain capital gains as land prices rise... 2) falling transportation costs resulting from government road construction, and 3) the possibility to increase their productivity over time". Similarly, Van der Weide (1986: 36), describing the large cattle ranches in the Atlantic Coast of Costa Rica, says that a typical strategy was to "sell the best timber wood, prepare some land for maize or cattle grazing and wait for land prices to increase through speculation". "In some cases families just have cattle on land to show ownership while they speculate with land prices. Land ownership is a long term investment, which is more important than the income from livestock as such" (Hijfte 1989: 16). Hence, Jones (1990: 2) is correct when he says that "Deforestation is often portrayed as an economic strategy, especially as a beef production strategy, a view which is only half correct. Deforestation is also

a title establishment mechanism, in which cattle serve primarily to demonstrate active land use, and...only secondarily as a source of income".

Land Claims and Land Titling

To better understand why land speculation in Central America has led to massive conversion of forest to pasture it is important to analyse the legal and practical aspects of claiming and protecting land in the region. Most land converted from forest to pasture over the last few decades originally belonged to the government. These lands could be legally claimed by farmers if they could show that they had been occupying them for more than a certain number of years. Often the laws required colonists to clear the forest in order to acquire possession rights and, in some cases, such as Costa Rica's Law 11 of 1941, permitted farmers to obtain title for larger amounts of land if it was for pasture than if it was for crops (León et al. 1982). That same law stated that people wishing to obtain title to areas where the majority of the land was covered in forest had to provide evidence of occupancy in the form of a public document issued more than ten years earlier. "As requiring a ten year old public document made lying about possession of forested area much more difficult, people simply cut 50 per cent or more of the forest cover" (Utting 1993 : 43).

Even when laws do not specifically require deforestation to demonstrate land possession, land clearance and the subsequent planting of pasture has still been one of the best ways to discourage squatters and avoid the threat of agrarian reform action designed to put "idle lands" into use (Place 1981; Edelman 1992; Salaverri 1992; World Bank 1993)²². Thus, for example, many large landholders in northern Guatemala who have not deforested all their land, have had their forest areas invaded by squatters, while squatting is quite rare where pastures have been planted. Edelman (1992) analysed all 13 squatter invasions involving over 500 hectares which occurred in Guanacaste, Costa Rica, between 1963 and 1981 and found that almost all cases involved heavily forested areas. Flores et al. (1994) report that many farmers who are settling lands in eastern Nicaragua that were abandoned during the military conflict are deforesting as quickly as possible because they do not know if the land was previously owned and wish to improve their bargaining power in case the original owners return by making "improvements". If one simply wants to show that his or her land is in use to guarantee tenure security while the land appreciates in value, grazing a few cattle on it is often the cheapest way to do so.

With the end of redistributive agrarian reform policies in Central America in the 1990s and recent modifications in the titling legislation in Costa Rica and Honduras designed to eliminate some of the incentives for deforestation, the incentive to convert forest to pasture to ensure tenure security may have weakened (Utting 1993; Richards 1994). Nevertheless, there is evidence that the changes in titling legislation have still had little effect on the behaviour of government agencies at the local level and in many agricultural frontier areas land clearance remains the only effective mechanism for claiming possession (Silviagro 1994; Hernández-Mora 1994).

There is also evidence that recent land titling programmes initiated by Central American governments to provide secure tenure rights for land occupants without legal title have fuelled the speculative drive for land. In 1993, many families were attracted to the agricultural frontier regions of Rio San Juan in Nicaragua by rumours that the government would give land title in those areas, and that the titled land could then be resold at a handsome profit (personal communication, Jorgen Strange-Hansen 1993). It has also been reported that passage of the 1972 Agricultural Modernization Law in Honduras which promotes land titling led many ranchers to claim new lands in the buffer zone of the Rio Jarquin Biosphere reserve in the hopes of being able to gain title (Richards 1994). As a World Bank study about Costa Rica, cited in Walker *et al.* (1993), expresses it "legalizing the purchase of illegally obtained lands encourages squatters"; and the best way for a squatter to show possession is by deforesting.

In the long run, land titling and government enforcement of individual property rights probably discourage land clearance aimed at improving tenure security and extracting natural resources before someone else can claim them^{23.} One reason cattle ranchers in Costa Rica have been willing to abandon their pastures and let them return to secondary forest may be that as individual property rights have become more secure they no longer fear they will lose their land if they leave it "idle". To the (limited) extent that large landholders in agricultural frontier regions in other countries have tenure security and do not want to or cannot clear their land, this also provides some protection from deforestation by others. Legeay (1994), for example, in his detailed study of the area between El Remate and Melchor de Mencos in Petén, Guatemala, identified certain areas which had not been deforested by squatters because they were reluctant to invade private land owned by large landowners. It is not clear, however, how these long-term benefits of land titling can be achieved without fuelling short-term land speculation.

Colonisation Schemes

Some governments have gone beyond simply permitting the privatisation of national lands for cattle raising to actively promoting it. By far the most important example of this has been in the Petén, Guatemala, where in 1971 the government passed a law authorising the Institute for the Promotion and Economic Development of the Petén (FYDEP) to sell areas of up to 675 hectares at low prices to ranchers (Latinoconsult 1974). Initially, the government sold land for prices ranging from \$2 to \$9 per hectare and even today land is sold for only between \$22 and \$42 per hectare, which is a fraction of market prices. Moreover, the government only requires a down payment of 10 per cent, with the remainder to be paid over twenty years at zero interest. Although there are no reliable figures on how much land has been sold in the Petén under this system, the Banco de Guatemala (1981b) estimated that by 1980 FYDEP had given titles for 700 large parcels for ranching and another 700 similar cases were being processed. Most of these lands were sold to entrepreneurs and professionals from Guatemala City and Coban, politicians and military officers from various regions, and medium-sized ranchers from the eastern departments of Chiquimula, Jutiapa and Jalapa. According to the law, purchasers were obliged to keep 20 per cent of the land received in forest, but this requirement was never enforced (Schwartz 1990). This colonisation programme was undoubtedly one of the major reasons why pasture area in the Petén rose from 32,000 hectares in 1964 to some 300,000 hectares in 1991 (AHT-APESA 1992, ICAITI 1974)²⁴. In order to retain their lands, the Law required that land recipients begin "activities or investments" on the land within one year of receipt and not abandon it for more than six months (Valenzuela 1994)²⁵.

Government colonisation schemes were also major forces behind the expansion of pasture area in Nueva Guinea, Nicaragua, northern Costa Rica, and the Northern Transversal Strip in Guatemala. When the Rigoberto Cabezas (PRICA) colonisation scheme first began in Nueva Guinea in 1965 with support from the Inter-American Development Bank (IDB) over 75 per cent was covered with forest and there were less than 32,000 head of cattle (Merlet 1992). By the late 1970s, however, forest cover had shrunk to 27 per cent, much of it heavily degraded, and the cattle herd had risen to 180,000 (Jarquin 1990). A recent survey of ranchers in the area found that less than 5 per cent of the land on their farms still had forest (Pijnenburg and Martínez 1992).

Between 1974 and 1984, the Costa Rican government resettled 1,801 families on 36,815 hectares in Northern Alajuela, and in the following three years they resettled an additional 4,604 families on 45,460 hectares. The great majority of lands distributed were forest lands with poor soils that were subsequently converted to pasture (Girot 1989; Cruz *et al.* 1992).

More recently, following the end of the military conflict in Nicaragua, the government turned over 286,000 hectares of land to 11,645 former military personnel, anti-government insurgents and repatriated families (Ortega 1993). Most of this land was in the forested areas of eastern Nicaragua, and has since been rapidly deforested. To date, there are still few animals on these lands, since most land recipients have lacked funds to purchase cattle, but the majority plan to put cattle on their lands in the future (CIPRES 1992).

None of these colonisation schemes included a significant effort to encourage the incoming families to sustainably use forest products. For the most part, forests were viewed as a nuisance that should be removed as quickly as possible.

Agrarian Reform, Protected Areas, Indigenous Territories and Extractive Reserves

Not all government land policies have promoted forest clearing. The agrarian reform process which began in 1979 in Nicaragua, for example, was an important deterrent to private investment in cattle ranching and offered tens of thousands of families an alternative access to land rather than moving to the agricultural frontier (Jarquin and Videa 1990, Karliner 1985). In the early 1980s, most of the 930 ranchers in that country with farms large enough to be subject to the agrarian reform law responded to the threat of expropriated were converted mostly to state farms which, at their peak in 1983, controlled 35 per cent of the country's cattle and pastures, and for the most part these farms had

little interest in converting forest to pasture. After 1983, the area of state farms in Nicaragua declined, as the Nicaraguan government began transferring lands to production co-operatives and individual farmers²⁶. Large ranchers' fear of expropriation, however, continued until at least 1989 and this inhibited pasture expansion.

Another (and currently more relevant) land policy which has discouraged the conversion of forest to pasture has been the creation of national parks and other protected areas. Costa Rica first established its national park system in 1974 (Lehmann 1991). The system expanded rapidly between 1974 and 1978 and continued to grow steadily. Currently almost 25 per cent of the national territory is in protected areas, of which more than two-thirds is forested (Peuker 1992). Overall, the Costa Rican government has been quite successful in protecting forested area in national parks from land clearance, although it has had less success in protecting forest reserves (Jones 1990). This, combined with the fact that there is no longer much forest outside protected areas, is one of the main reasons why deforestation rates have dropped precipitously in Costa Rica during the last five years.

Other regional countries have also expanded the amount of land in protected areas over the last decade, with the total in Central America rising from 9 per cent of the land in 1980 to 13 per cent in 1990 (Herlihy 1992). Most of this land is concentrated in six large protected areas of between 500,000 hectares and 1,500,000 hectares: the Maya Biosphere in northern Petén in Guatemala, the Rio Platano River Biosphere in Honduras, the Bosawas and Indio-Maiz Reserves in Nicaragua, the Amistad National Park in Costa Rica, and the Darien National Park in Panama (Merlet *et al.* 1992).

Outside of Costa Rica, and to a lesser extent Panama, most national parks and other protected areas are subject to major encroachment problems (Boyer *et al.* 1980, Colchester and Lohmann 1993; Ortega 1993; Valenzuela 1994). In many cases the enabling legislation is incomplete and there are almost no resources available for enforcement. In addition, poverty levels in Guatemala, Honduras, and Nicaragua are much higher, implying that resource-poor families have few alternatives to squatting in protected areas. The protected status of these areas may be a partial deterrent to pasture expansion, but it is certainly not complete.

The problems governments face in controlling access to protected areas have led some groups to propose use of the military for this purpose; an idea generally supported by the armed forces themselves, who see it as an opportunity to obtain resources and public support at a time when they are under strong pressure to reduce their budgets. The evidence regarding military intervention in protected areas, however, is mixed. On the one hand, military control over northern Peten prior to 1987, access to Darien Province in Panama prior to 1989, and access to parts of eastern Honduras in recent years succeeded in limiting land clearance in those areas and, in the case of Panama, the introduction of cattle. The Nicaraguan military also succeeded in removing most farmers from the agricultural frontier areas of Rio San Juan during the military conflict in that country between 1983 and 1989. On the other hand, military control over forest areas in these countries has typically been associated with high levels of corruption, lumber extraction and human rights abuses and may diminish public support for conservation policies by associating them with the (generally unpopular) military forces.

In addition to protected areas, per se, there has also been growing interest in providing tenure rights for indigenous people or improving existing rights (Davis and Wali 1993). It is argued that "Indian populations tend to be less destructive of natural resources than other groups in the region" (Herlihy 1992). While this may not always be true, it is the case that to date most indigenous groups in Central America have cleared little forest for pasture and are unlikely to do so in the near future (Godoy and Brokaw 1994).

Panama is the country which has moved the farthest in formalising indigenous land rights. Its Kuna Yala and Embera "comarcas" cover over 700,000 hectares, and have largely been able to avoid incursion by outside ranchers (Herlihy 1992). In Costa Rica, indigenous reserves covered some 278,000 hectares in the early 1980s. Small areas in eastern Honduras have also been titled to indigenous communities. In Nicaragua, the regional autonomy and Indian land laws also recognise that indigenous people have certain territorial rights, although there have been problems with incursions by outsiders.

There have also been some initial attempts in Central America to create extractive reserves or forest reserves, in which specific communities or groups of individuals are given exclusive rights to extract wood or non-timber forest products from an area. This, it is hoped, will give these groups an incentive to protect the lands under their control from land clearing by outsiders.

During the 1970s, the Honduran government supported the creation of resin-tapping co-operatives in the pine forests by assigning them tracts of forest and giving financial and technical support. Many of these co-operatives disappeared, however, when the price of resin plunged in the mid-1980s (Hernández-Mora 1994).

Beginning in 1988, the Broadleaf Forest Project (PBL) in northern Honduras created ten "integrated management areas" (AMIs) of 1,000 to 5,000 hectares each in which groups of rural families were to develop forest management plans and be given exclusive rights to cut lumber, as well as receive technical and social services. Because of disputes over rights to the forests, conflicts within the groups over various issues, and weak technical and financial assistance, however, these efforts were only partially successful and in the last few years have been largely discontinued (Hernández-Mora 1994, Silviagro 1994).

In the buffer zone of the Indio Maiz biological reserve in Rio San Juan, Nicaragua, since 1993 a group of retired military officers, former anti-government insurgents and local farmers have received land, credit and access to lumber markets in return for agreeing to abide by strict land-use and forest-management regulations (Didier 1993). Over 5,500 square kilometres have also been set aside in the Uaxactun-Carmelita Multiple-use Reserve in Petén, Guatemala, specifically for local harvesters of xate palm, chicle gum and allspice (Heinzman and Rening 1988; Nations 1992b). In both the Nicaraguan and Guatemalan cases, however, it is still too early to evaluate the results of these efforts ²⁷.

Finally, the unique experience of Darien province in Panama is also worth mention. For years Darien has had restrictions on cattle, designed to avoid the spread of hoof and mouth disease from nearby Colombia. "Within 25 kilometers of the Colombian border no cattle raising is permitted. In the rest of Darien, cattle raising is permitted on a limited scale, but no cattle may be transported out of the province" (Ledec 1992b: 177). Because of its interest in limiting the spread of hoof and mouth disease, the US government has provided substantial resources to enforce these restrictions. Some forests have been cleared for pastures anyway, but overall the result has been a lower amount of forest cleared by each settler family in Darien than in most other agricultural frontier areas ²⁸.

Land Taxation

Theoretically, nationally mandated municipal taxes with higher rates for pasture and crop lands than for forest could be a major incentive to limit forest clearance where cattle grazing is only marginally profitable. Similarly, land taxes could be used to discourage land speculation by raising the cost of using long-term landholding as a hedge against inflation or a source of capital gains, charging landowners for the costs of infrastructural improvement, and lowering the price of land (Strasma *et al.* 1987; Strasma and Celis 1992).

Nevertheless, the experience to date has not been encouraging. Throughout Central America, not only have rural land tax rates been low (typically below 0.5 per cent of assessed value), but governments have found it difficult to accurately assess land values and no country indexes assessed values for inflation (Strasma and Celis 1992). Land taxes require relatively complete and accurate cadastral information, which does not exist in most Central American countries, particularly not in agricultural frontier areas. In fact, Skinner (1991a, 1991b) argues persuasively that the administrative constraints on effective land-tax administration are so severe in most developing countries that they should be largely discarded for this reason alone.

Costa Rica and Guatemala have traditionally had higher taxes for "idle" lands, which might have promoted deforestation were it not for the fact that tax rates and enforcement have been so low. On the other hand, Costa Rica has also exempted tree plantations and watershed protection areas from land taxation but this is equally unlikely to have affected ranchers' behaviour for the same reason (Strasma and Celis 1992). Costa Rican tax laws "contain provisions for automatically increasing assessments of properties whose value increases through public investment in roads and other infrastructure,...(but) the office charged with this responsibility was never established" (Edelman 1992: 251).

Perhaps with the recent strengthening of municipal governments in Central America resulting from national decentralisation policies, these local governments may take greater interest in land taxes to improve their revenue base and may develop a greater capacity to accurately assess local land values ²⁹. Skinner himself acknowledges that local land taxes have been much more successful than national taxes. It will be difficult, however, to establish taxes high enough to significantly affect land use patterns without causing financial distress for cash-poor farmers on the agricultural frontier.

The Implications for Policy

Improving land-tenure security can reduce some incentives for deforestation. Nevertheless, policies which tolerate squatting on public lands and allow squatters to obtain title for those lands are a major cause of deforestation. Government-induced settlement of agricultural frontier areas almost inevitably promotes forest clearance for pasture expansion. Protected areas, indigenous land rights and restrictions on cattle in buffer zones of protected areas can be (and have been) effective in limiting deforestation, but only where there are sufficient resources and political resolve to enforce these policies and the local population is brought into the process. Agrarian reform programmes can discourage investment in cattle raising and offer alternatives to land access for poor rural families other than migration to the agricultural frontier, but they can also favour deforestation if forest lands are subject to expropriation for being "under-utilised". Land taxes which penalise deforestation could theoretically reduce land clearance, but are difficult to administer and, for all practical purposes, are still largely untested. Macro-economic policies which produce high and variable inflation rates, financial market policies which tolerate money laundering, and land purchases by governments and international agencies for above prevailing market prices favour rural land speculation, and thus, indirectly, forest clearing.

TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL DEGRADATION

Pasture researchers in Latin America have long argued that technological improvements in livestock production systems can reduce pressure on marginal lands at the agricultural frontier by making it possible to produce the same amount of meat and milk on less land (Serrão and Toledo 1992, 1993). This process should operate through market mechanisms. As the efficiency of cattle production on existing pastures increases, the price of meat and milk will fall by more than the productivity gains and this will lower the incentive to convert marginal lands into pasture ³⁰. At the same time, many existing livestock systems in Central America are rapidly degrading the resource base on which they depend. This has major environmental consequences and could mean that more land is required to produce the same amount of meat and milk.

This section first examines the experience of technological change in Central American livestock and then the evidence regarding pasture degradation.

Technological Change

The post-war cattle boom in Central America was accompanied by important advances in technology including wider use of improved stock and artificial insemination, introduction of new pastures such as African Star grass (*Cyndodon plectostachyum*), increased use of veterinary inputs, fertilisers and herbicides, and large investments in infrastructure such as fences, ponds, and wells. "The combined effects of better breeds, better pastures, and better animal care produced younger, beefier, healthier animals for the packing plants . . . From the moment of conception to the final fattening before slaughter, not a single stage of the cattle-raising process was left untouched as herd and pasture management adapted to the needs of the world market" (Williams 1986: 95).

Technological progress was especially notable in Costa Rica, where specialised meat and milk production incorporating substantial input use became common. An average steer in Costa Rica's North Pacific gained 13 kilograms per month in the 1970s, compared to 9 in the 1940s, and the period required to bring a steer to slaughter fell from between 42 and 60 months in the 1940s to between 24 and 48 months in the 1970s (León *et al.* 1982). Progress in milk production was sufficient for milk producers to improve their profitability during the 1970s despite falling real prices, due to better efficiency (Camacho 1989).

In general, however, progress in improving weight gain, raising milk production and reducing mortality was much greater than the advance in stocking rates, which was minimal (Alderman 1973; Heckadon 1984). With localised exceptions, most livestock systems continued to be extensive, with average stocking densities of only about one head of cattle per hectare (Ledec 1992b).

More recently, there has been a certain amount of technological regression, particularly with regard to beef production. Between 1975 and 1990, the amount of meat produced annually per head of cattle fell in Guatemala, Honduras and Nicaragua, and grew only moderately in Costa Rica and Panama. Average milk production per cow grew over 30 per cent in Costa Rica and Honduras, but fell precipitously in Nicaragua and was constant in Guatemala and Panama (FAO 1976, 1991). This stagnation is consistent with the general decline in profitability of livestock production during the period.

There is now sufficient technology available to double or perhaps even triple average stocking densities in Central America (Mercado 1993). Even if this were to occur, however, it is unlikely that it would lead to a decline in deforestation. The experience of the last twenty years shows that pasture expansion in agricultural frontier areas can continue despite major declines in real beef and dairy prices. This is so because, as shown above, land speculation is often as important a factor in pasture expansion in these areas as the profitability of livestock itself, pastures are often the lowest cost land use which provides tenure security, and farmers in frontier areas typically have few viable production alternatives other than cattle.

Moreover, in the current context of increasing trade liberalisation it is far from clear that changes in the efficiency of regional livestock production will affect prices, which are now determined mostly in the world market. Von Amsberg (1994) has shown than when the demand for an agricultural product such as beef or milk is very elastic, as is now the case in Central America, technological changes which make livestock more profitable would unambiguously lead it to expand at the expense of forests.

A plausible argument can even be made that improved livestock technology applicable to areas with poor soils in the humid tropics is likely to increase deforestation, as it would make cattle raising in these areas more profitable. It is often argued that, by offering small farmers on the agricultural frontier a stable source of income, improved livestock (or agricultural) technologies could discourage them from selling their land and moving farther into the forest to clear new lands. Schneider (1994) has argued persuasively, however, that many of these farmers do not sell their land to ranchers because the lands are degraded and are no longer productive, but because large ranchers have a higher shadow price for the land than small farmers and thus are able to offer attractive sums of money. Humphries came to similar conclusions based on field work around La Ceiba, Honduras (Sally Humphries, personal communication). If this argument is correct, improved livestock technology, rather than reducing land sales and migration by small farmers, is likely to increase it if large farmers have earlier access to that technology.

Environmental Deterioration and Pasture Degradation

At the same time as talk continues about the prospect of improving livestock technology in Central America, many cattle-grazing areas in the region suffer from reduced pasture management and environmental degradation. Previous reference was made to the conversion of pasture to brush, wooded areas and secondary forests. But even in many areas still in pasture, that pasture's quality has been greatly reduced, particularly in areas with higher rainfall and steeper and less fertile soils.

A study in Boaco and Chontales in Nicaragua, the country's most important cattle region, found that although pasture area remained constant at 2.1 million hectares between 1977 and 1987, due to the fall in pasture quality those 2.1 million hectares were equivalent to 1.2 million hectares of "good pasture" in 1977, but only 780,000 hectares of "good pasture" in 1987 (Hirvela *et al.* 1989). Another study of the Malacotoya watershed in Boaco in 1986 found that, of the total area in pasture, 33.8 per cent was in "degraded pasture with weeds" and 31.2 per cent in "pasture and scrub forest". Less than 1 per cent was in dense pasture with few weeds (Tremblay and Malenfont 1992). Similarly, 32 per cent of the pasture in nearby Nueva Guinea was said to be seriously degraded in 1992 (Carlor and de Kroes 1994). At the national level, Holman (1993) estimates average real grass coverage in pasture areas in Nicaragua is currently less than 50 per cent because of the heavy presence of weeds.

Studies in Nicoya, Arenal-Tempisque, northern Alajuela, the central and south Pacific, and the Atlantic Coast of Costa Rica all point to a deterioration in pasture quality during the 1980s (Van der Weide 1986; Escuela de Ciencias Agrarias 1987; Holman *et al.* 1992; Utting 1993; Fallas and Morera 1993; Huising 1993). Severe pasture degradation has also been reported in Petén, Guatemala, Honduras and Panama (Alderman 1973; Boyer *et al.* 1980; Heckadon 1984; Stonich 1989; AHT-APESA 1992; Ledec 1992b; Colchester and Lohmann 1993).

Pasture degradation is the result of a combination of weed proliferation, soil compaction, constant burning of the land, erosion, lixiviation, nutrient depletion and over-grazing (Ledec 1992b; Place 1981). These processes are caused by social and environmental factors, which are often difficult to distinguish and are mutually reinforcing. Among the social factors that have contributed to reduced pasture management and over-grazing are the falling profitability of cattle raising, limited access to credit for cattle ranching, rising labour costs in Costa Rica, war-time labour scarcity in Nicaragua, physical insecurity due to military conflicts and banditry, and the concentration of cattle in areas near houses and towns to avoid cattle theft and kidnapping (Clerx *et al.* 1993; Namdar and Levard 1984; Bastiaans and Clemens 1986; Jarquin and Videa 1990; Holman *et al.* 1992; Matus *et al.* 1993). Environmental degradation has made certain pastures more costly and less profitable to maintain.

Environmental factors alone have also greatly reduced the carrying capacity of the pastures. Conversion from forest to pasture increases soil compaction, erosion, temperature variations and dry winds and decreases relative humidity, water infiltration and organic matter in the upper soil (Place 1981). Four or five years after first burning the forest in the humid tropics, the levels of phosphorous drop significantly (Jarquin 1990).

Much of the pasture land in Central America is "poorly adapted for cattle-grazing. Over grazing is common, and proper pasture management or field rotation is rarely practiced. Consequently pasture lands have problems of soil compaction and loss of capacity of infiltration and water storage, and obstruction of lateral drainage. During the rainy season, this causes floods in flatlands and promotes erosion in sloped areas... Whenever the pastures are extended on very steep slopes...furrows, ditches, sinkings and landslides are evident in the soil...With subsoils exposed and hardened, the soil develops a very low capacity to sustain nutrients for pastures after a few years. But even when exhausted, the lands are continually burned and grazed...so that the soil is persistently impoverished until it often finally becomes worthless" (Thrupp 1980: 45-46).

Heckadon (1984: 251) reports that, in Panama, "a recurrent phenomenon of the expanding cattle frontier is the gradual decline of the carrying capacity of the pasture lands. Whereas in the initial years a producer can keep one head of cattle per hectare, after five or seven years he will need two or three hectares to keep the same animal". Likewise on the Atlantic Coast of Nicaragua, "the recuperation time of "India" pasture being grazed may be 45 а new to 55 days...Nevertheless, a pasture six to eight years old can take 70-90 days to reach the same height, without considering the decline in the total volume of forage due to the decrease over time in the number of plants per area and the lack of fronds" (Howard 1988). In Petén and other northern departments in Guatemala' livestock productivity often plummets around seven to ten years after pasture establishment (Colchester and Lohmann 1993).

Soil erosion tends to be high in areas lacking vegetative cover, and many pasture areas have large exposed areas as a result of regular burning, over-grazing, soil compaction, and the characteristics of the grasses used. Jaragua and "india grass", two of the most common pastures in Central America, are particularly vulnerable to soil erosion since they grow in dispersed clusters (Carlor and deKroes 1994). Even during the rainy season, a Jaragua pasture still leaves 40-50 per cent of the land unprotected. Often, "the soil between the grass clusters is softened by the trampling of animal hooves and then washed away by water runoff by the rains" (Boyer *et al.* 1980: 21). In a survey of ranchers in Puriscal, Costa Rica, in the late 1970s, over half of those sampled reported both erosion and landslides in their pastures, and only one-fifth said that they had neither of these problems (Thrupp 1980).

Weed encroachment, particularly by gramineas which is difficult to control with herbicides, is another problem (Jarquin 1990; Colchester and Lohmann 1993). On the poor soils where many pastures are located, unless they are fertilised pasture production declines after a few years, less productive native gramineas replace the planted grasses and weeds eventually dominate (Paladines 1978; Toledo and Navas 1986). Pasture compaction by animals and overgrazing accelerate this process.

In Costa Rica and Nicaragua, a particular problem has been the rapid expansion during the 1980s of "ratana" grass (Iscahemum ciliare), a grass with limited nutritional value, at the expense of more productive pastures (Morales 1992; Pijnenburg and Martinez 1992) Ratana was first introduced by ranchers, but later grew out of control and began to aggressively invade new areas. This was said to have been the principal reason for an observed decline in per hectare milk production over a 13-year period in 44 ranches studied in Rio Frio and Sonafluca in Northern Alajuela (Holman *et al.* 1992).

Reducing pasture degradation is important not only for increasing the productivity on existing pastures but also for reducing the incentive for "nutrient mining" (Schneider 1994). There is evidence that ranchers often prefer to deforest new areas to take advantage of their initially high fertility levels, rather than recover recently abandoned pastures which may have lower fertility and greater weed infestation (Federico Holman, personal communication). If cost-effective techniques are found to avoid pasture degradation this could reduce the preference for clearing primary forest (although it would not eliminate other reasons for clearing that forest).

There is scattered evidence that some larger ranchers have begun to take measures to reduce degradation through the introduction of new pastures and better pasture management. In the Petén, for example, these ranchers have planted approximately 15,000 to 20,000 hectares of improved pastures in recent years (Kaimowitz 1995). Such efforts, however, still seem to be relatively uncommon.

The Implications for Policy

Support for livestock research and extension is unlikely to significantly reduce deforestation in agricultural frontier areas, and could even lead to an increase. There is a great need, however, to better understand the processes of pasture degradation in Central America, and technological change can reduce the environmental degradation associated with existing pastures.

THE ROLE OF FORESTRY POLICY

Another view of why farmers have cleared forest land in Central America is that government policies have reduced the value of forest land and forest products, and hence the potential profitability of maintaining the land in forest (Stewart 1992; Kishor and Constantino 1993; World Bank 1993; Stewart and Gibson 1994). These authors argue that the use of log export bans, low public expenditure on forestry, restrictions on cutting timber, and cumbersome requirements for forestry management plans have discriminated against the forestry sector and made forestry less profitable compared to cattle raising and crop production.

Most forestry laws in the region traditionally gave the government total control over all trees, commercially planted or otherwise, and required a cutting permit that might or might not be granted. This made plantation forestry risky and sometimes led farmers to rid themselves of their trees as soon as possible to avoid controls (Stewart 1992). In Honduras the problem was even worse. Between 1973 and 1992 all trees were formally owned by the national government, which paid landowners only a small price for each tree harvested from their land (Walker *et al.* 1993).

All the governments have attempted to control deforestation by requiring permission from public forestry agencies to clear land. They have been universally unsuccessful, however, and in most countries more than half of all land clearance has occurred without government consent. Stewart and Gibson (1994) estimate that if there were no policy distortions both management of native forests and forest plantations would currently yield higher returns per hectare of land than cattle in Costa Rica; and they imply that one simply has to remove these distortions and ranchers will stop deforesting and start planting trees. Kishor and Constantino (1993), on the other hand, affirm that even without trade distortions cattle raising would still provide higher incomes than continuous management of natural forests, although they agree with Stewart and Gibson that forestry plantations would be more profitable than ranching.

Several recent studies using net present value criteria have shown that secondary forest regeneration is probably already profitable in many of the more humid areas of Costa Rica if left for periods ranging from 15 to 40 years (Herrera 1990; Coseforma DGF-GTZ 1993; Guillén 1993). The authors of these studies admit, however, that most existing secondary forests are the result of pasture or crop abandonment, rather than a conscious effort to produce forest products. This is consistent with a recent survey by Ortiz (1994) of 32 ranchers in Northern Costa Rica who own secondary forest areas. In this survey, none of the ranchers questioned stated that he/she had allowed their pastures to revert to secondary forest because of the value of the wood produced³¹. However, over one-half of the ranchers noted that, despite the fact that the land had been "abandoned", it continued to grow in value because of increases in land prices and wood production.One-third of the ranchers interviewed by Ortiz expected to allow all of their secondary forest to regenerate indefinitely, 30 per cent said they would leave part, and 25 per cent expected to clear all of it.

The basic argument that policies which lower the value of timber discourage reforestation and secondary forest regeneration is undoubtedly valid. Nevertheless, in addition to comparing the net present value of cattle versus forestry, policy analysts must also consider the other reasons why landowners have preferred cattle over other investment options such as limited labour requirements, low supervision costs, ease of sale on short notice, and the advantages of cattle as a way to demonstrate land possession. Different types of forestry management have some of these attributes, but not necessarily all of them. Probably the only group of ranchers for which net present value per hectare is the over-riding factor in defining land use are the investment ranchers. This implies that improvements in timber prices alone are unlikely to eliminate all conversion of forest to pasture, although they may reduce it.

There has also been a confusion in much of the literature referring to natural forest management between incentives which will promote sustainable management of natural forests, secondary forest regrowth and new forest plantations, and those that may encourage rapid extraction of valuable timber, thus leaving a forest of greatly diminished commercial value which would be subject to clearing. Von Amsberg (1994) has shown unambiguously that a higher timber price, ceteris paribus, leads to a smaller area of biologically mature and previously unclogged forests. "This result suggests that measures [such as export restrictions in the timber producing countries] to reduce the producer price for timber would be suitable as a second best policy to reduce the pressure on unmanaged forest frontiers" (von Amsberg 1994: i). While it is true that high forest product prices would be necessary to induce landowners to manage existing forests sustainably, there are still very few cases in the world of sustainably managed, tropical broad leaf forests. Policies which favour reforestation and secondary forest regeneration by increasing timber prices and giving individual clear property rights over timber may at the same time encourage clearance of primary forests.

In recent years, Costa Rica has spent large sums of money on fiscal incentives and subsidies for reforestation, at a rather high cost per hectare reforested, and other countries are considering greatly increasing their own incentives (Segura 1992). Typically, these subsidies cover a large percentage of the costs of planting new trees. Even greater environmental services could be obtained, however, by promoting secondary forest regeneration through research, marketing support, credit facilities and small cash payments. Secondary forests are more biologically diverse forests and often have lower levels of erosion than tree plantations. They are also easier to manage, respond well to silvicultural treatments, and many of the trees for timber have become commercially attractive (G. Budowski, personal communication). This alternative would probably be much cheaper, per hectare, than current reforestation incentives, since farmers would only need to be paid sums similar to or less than the small amounts of net income generated by livestock per hectare, particularly if these payments were accompanied by guarantees of tenure security. These efforts would only accelerate pre-existing trends, and are compatible with farmers' objectives and resource endowments. Unless such measures are taken,

much of the current brush and secondary forest may be cleared before reaching maturity³².

The Implications for Policy

Policies which increase the price of forest products and provide clear individual property rights for tree ownership simultaneously favour reforestation, secondary forest regeneration, and more rapid lumber extraction from existing forests. The relative importance of these effects will vary in each case, and little is known about the magnitude of likely policy responses.Past government efforts to regulate forest management have largely failed and the institutional capacity for such regulation in Central America is weak. One efficient way to increase forest-related environmental services may be to provide incentives to ensure that existing secondary forests are allowed to grow to maturity and to stimulate more ranchers to "abandon" marginal forest lands. This could be used along with other incentives such as technical and market information, access to long-term credit and payments for carbon sequestration that could be made available to the forestry industry as a whole.

POLITICAL INSTABILITY AND VIOLENCE

Instability and violence have discouraged investment in cattle and limited pasture expansion in Nicaragua and parts of northern Guatemala at different times. The herds of Costa Rica and Honduras grew as cattle were moved from Nicaragua to those countries. This section looks briefly at this issue.

The Role of Violence in Nicaragua

The Nicaraguan civil war during the late 1970s reduced the national cattle herd by between 25 per cent and 35 per cent as a result of direct war losses, indiscriminate slaughter and live cattle exports to Costa Rica and Honduras (Cajina 1986). The final 1979 insurrection itself led to the loss of an estimated 100,000 head of cattle (Biondi-Morra 1990). Beef exports jumped 30 per cent in 1978 and an additional 35 per cent in 1979 as large ranchers sought to liquidate their assets, and this further reduced the cattle stock. Honduran statistics show an increase of 200,000 cattle slaughtered in 1979 over the previous year and a rise of

372,000 head compared to 1977, which can only be explained by wide-scale contraband imports of cattle. Similarly, Solera-Ruiz (1981) estimated that unrecorded cattle exports from Nicaragua to Costa Rica were between 48,000 and 65,000 head in 1978.

After 1983, an upsurge in anti-government violence once again discouraged cattle production. Between 1983 and 1989, expansion of the agricultural frontier came to a virtual standstill, and tens of thousands of families fled or were forcibly resettled from frontier areas (Prado *et al.* 1991; Maldidier 1993). As a result, by 1988, the Nicaraguan government estimated that 300,000 hectares of farm land, 5 per cent of all land in farms, had been abandoned due to the war (Gutierrez 1988). Perhaps as much as 50 per cent to 60 per cent of the national cattle herd was located in areas affected by the war (Jarquin and Videa 1990)³³.

The direct losses to the livestock sector provoked by the military conflict between 1980 and 1985 have been calculated at \$5.7 million (Biondi-Morra 1990). There were also large indirect losses as a result of the heightened risk of investment, military-related labour shortages, over-grazing in areas close to the towns, and loss of access to pastures in humid areas used to feed livestock during the dry season. On the other hand, the abandonment of huge agricultural frontier areas also brought about an impressive regrowth of secondary forest on former crop and pasture lands.

The formal end of the military conflict in 1990 brought with it the return of thousands of displaced families to the agricultural frontier, but has not meant a complete end to rural violence. Armed bands took advantage of the chaotic situation after the 1990 elections to steal cattle on a large scale, particularly from state farms and co-operatives (Clerx *et al.* 1993). Land markets in the interior became more active in 1990 and 1991 after the war ended, but then were virtually paralysed again, due to continued problems of insecurity. Frequent assaults and kidnappings and ranchers' inability to take effective possession of lands they purchase have continued to make it unappealing to buy land or locate cattle in inaccessible areas (Stanfield 1992; Matus *et al.* 1993; Siles and Hernandez 1994).

The Role of Violence in Guatemala

Violence in Guatemala also had a major impact on the cattle sector, particularly in the Petén and Alta Verapaz. After 1980, growing violence in the Petén associated with Guatemala's internal military conflict substantially reduced the number of ranchers interested in purchasing land from the government and led many to abandon their lands or to sell them for low prices. Violence was particularly heavy between La Libertad and the Usumacinta river and near Poptun and Dolores. This situation continued until 1987 or 1988, after which the level of violence declined markedly. Since that time guerrilla organisations have continued to extort contributions from ranchers in many areas, but these have rarely been high enough to affect their profit margins.

In Alta Verapaz, the northern cattle-raising municipalities of Chisec and Cobán were practically abandoned after 1982 due to the military conflicts and only recently have ranchers returned and begun to invest again. In contrast, ranchers in municipalities further east, such as Chahal and Fray Bartolomé de las Casas, which were relatively peaceful during the 1980s currently face serious problems of theft, kidnapping and extortion by anti-government insurgents.

Had it not been for the military conflict in the 1980s deforestation in the Petén and Alta Verapaz would have probably been much higher. Since the levels of violence have subsided in the Petén investments in cattle and land prices have increased rapidly. Cattle grazing in Northern Alta Verapaz, on the other hand, has been slow to recover, due to poor maintenance of the Northern Transversal Strip highway constructed in the late 1970s, especially poor soils and high rainfall, and persistent security problems.

The Implications for Policy

No one would suggest that military conflicts and banditry should be encouraged in order to reduce deforestation. These factors must be considered, however, when analysing trends in deforestation rates, and policy makers must be aware that, unless no measures are taken to prevent it, less violence in agricultural frontier areas is likely to lead to rapid deforestation.

CONCLUSIONS AND POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

While deforestation continues to be a very major problem in Central America, it declined significantly in the late 1980s. Unfavourable market conditions, reduced access to credit, higher interest rates, expansion of protected areas and military conflicts were all important in this decline. And while there is little hard evidence on the subject, deforestation by entrepreneurs and large ranchers living outside agricultural frontier areas probably decreased more as a result of the changes in market conditions and credit than did deforestation by ranchers living in agricultural frontier areas.

The clearance of forests for pasture expansion which has occurred over the last fifteen years can largely be attributed to attempts to claim public lands and improve land-tenure security, declining transportation costs resulting from public road construction, government colonisation programmes, and the specific characteristics of cattle raising which make it quite attractive to farmers with land but little capital, labour, management skills and access to markets.

This pattern, in fact, is quite consistent with recent experience in the Brazilian Amazon (Hecht 1992; Moran 1993), where deforestation rates have declined since 1987 as a result of the termination of credit and fiscal subsidies, economic recession and other policies. But after initially falling, deforestation rates in Brazil may have now reached a plateau, with most of the land clearance being carried out by smalland medium-sized farmers who are less affected by changes in government subsidies or the price of livestock products.

This implies that to bring deforestation rates down further, whether it be in Central America or other areas of tropical Latin America, will require going beyond the elimination of subsidised public credit and fiscal incentives for cattle ranching, although such measures are appropriate. Given what has been shown about the limited responsive of forest clearance to changes in livestock product prices, trying to artificially lower the prices of livestock products through consumer boycotts or other measures is also unlikely to succeed. Stimulating improved livestock technology and eliminating policies which depress timber prices have a number of virtues in their own right, but will probably not significantly reduce the clearing of natural forest, and could even increase it.

To further reduce deforestation in Central America below its current level will require directly addressing the issues of road construction, land tenure and land-use regulation. Road construction and improvement in most forest areas should be discouraged. Governments must decide which public lands they do not want to pass into private hands and strictly enforce those decisions, and the incentives must be eliminated for clearing forests to claim land and improve
tenure security. These governments cannot be realistically expected to maintain control over all current public lands, but they should attempt to keep control of priority areas. Protected areas must really be protected, while at the same time establishing the best possible relations with neighbouring communities. Indigenous land rights should be expanded. Continued experimentation is also necessary to find common property regimes appropriate for forest management by nonindigenous people. Cattle ranching should be restricted in certain buffer zones around protected areas. Land taxes designed to discourage forest clearance could be trialled through pilot projects.

Forestry policy in general merits more attention and resources than it has received in the past. If landholders are ever to seriously consider leaving more of their land in forest they will need more information on market and technical opportunities, less cumbersome forest management regulations, access to credit and, in some instances, transfer payments which reflect the environmental services provided by forests which are not received by individual owners.

Many of these policies involve a greater role for government or for non-governmental agencies which carry out public functions and may require hiring additional government personnel. In the current circumstances where the armed forces of several Central American countries are seeking new roles in post-war societies there may be some temptation to assign them to enforce property rights and guard protected areas. This may be appropriate in certain cases, but brings with it serious risks which must be considered, and should generally be viewed as an option of last resort.

Two final policy areas which merit greater attention are research and extension efforts designed to reduce pasture degradation and incentives for promoting secondary forest regeneration and sustainable utilisation. Unlike the Amazon, there has been almost no research on the serious problems of pasture degradation in Central America, and efforts to reduce such degradation could greatly diminish environmental deterioration in large areas of the region already in pastures.

More needs to be understood about the economic, social and biological aspects of secondary forest regeneration. But it would appear that, given the fact that ranchers have already begun to abandon large areas of marginal pastures, there may be great opportunities to turn these areas into permanent or semi-permanent "set-asides" at limited cost. This could offer significant benefits with respect to carbon sequestration, soil and water protection, biodiversity and the availability of forest products.

END NOTES

The author gratefully acknowledges comments by and discussions with Gerardo Budowski, Neil Byron, Ronnie de Camino, Marc Edelman, Sam Fujisaka, Alicia Grimes, Peter Hazell, Federico Holman, Elizabeth Katz, Timothy Kelly, Manuel Paveri Anziani, Sara Scherr, Denise Stanley, Lori Ann Thrupp, Stephen Vosti, and Satya Yadav. Maria Ileana Mora, Jorge Rodriguez, and William Sunderlin greatly assisted in obtaining and organising livestock and forestry statistics and references. Earlier versions of this paper were presented at the economic policy and natural resource management masters programmes at the National University (UNA) of Costa Rica and the Central American Institute of Business Administration (INCAE), at the International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), and in a workshop of Rockefeller Foundation social science fellows at the International Livestock Center for Africa (ILCA) in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, where the author received useful questions and comments. Portions of the study were financed by the Deutsche Gesellshaft fur Technische Zusammenarbeit (GTZ), the Inter-American Institute for Cooperation in Agriculture (IICA), the United States Agency for International Development (USAID), and the World Bank, without whose support the study could never have been carried out. IFPRI provided an office and good company during preparation of the final draft. The author, however, is solely responsible for the material presented.

- 2 The fact that carbon sequestration and biodiversity conservation offer substantial "spill-over" benefits to countries outside Central America, which may even be higher than the benefits these environmental services provide to the region itself, undoubtedly raises the issue of international compensation for the incremental costs of these national conservation efforts. However, this issue is beyond the scope of this paper.
- 3 For purposes of this study, Panama is considered part of Central America.
- 4 The full Guatemala study has been written up in Kaimowitz (1995).
- 5 The discussion of the specific characteristics of livestock has been incorporated into the section on the types of livestock ranches.
- 6 The most recent available estimates of deforestation in Central America based on aerial photographs or satellite images cover the following

periods: Costa Rica (1987-1992), Guatemala (Petén only) (1976-1993), Honduras (1962-1989), Nicaragua (1972-1986) and Panama (1970-1987).

- 7 The General Forestry Directorate (DGF) of the Costa Rican government, however, estimates that the area under secondary forest is only 200,000 hectares. The difference between these two estimates may be due to the definitions used (Nuñez 1993).
- 8 High incomes by local standards may still be low by international standards. For example, a recent survey of 340 ranchers in Nueva Guinea, Nicaragua, found that even the most wealthy 5 per cent of those surveyed, who had an average of 110 hectares of land and 90 head of cattle, only earned average gross annual incomes of \$8,000 (Pijnenburg and Martinez 1992).
- **9** Currently, a new chain saw sells for around \$1,500, much more than most small farmers can afford.
- 10 These percentages sum to over 100 per cent because farmers were permitted to give more than one reason for switching to livestock.
- 11 Honduras was a partial exception to this. There, monopsonistic control of the export slaughterhouses apparently kept ranchers from receiving many of the benefits of rising international prices (Slutsky 1979).
- 12 This does not imply, however, that without exports the livestock sector would necessarily have stagnated.Panama, for example, had minimal beef exports but one of the highest growth rates in cattle population during the 1960s.
- 13 In Honduras, producer prices for milk dropped by one-third after the government reduced milk import tariffs in April 1993 (Nuñez and Galetto 1993).
- 14 Central American governments also support livestock through subsidised animal health services and tax incentives, but these incentives have generally been much less significant than credit and road construction.
- 15 In Costa Rica, livestock credit peaked at 58 per cent of agricultural credit in 1974 and, during most years between 1973 and 1980, more credit went to livestock than to crops (Place 1981; Aguilar and Solis 1986).

- 16 In Honduras, for example, in the mid-1970s some 200 ranchers received 45 per cent of all public-sector livestock credit (Slutsky 1979). In the World Bank PRODEGA livestock project in Guatemala, 232 ranchers received loans averaging \$24,600 each, as well as free technical assistance which cost the project \$4,823 per farm. These ranchers' average herd size was 162, at a time when there were only 2,511 ranchers in the country with over 100 head of cattle (World Bank 1978; RUTA 1993). Seventy-two per cent of the credit provided by the World Bank's Third Livestock Project in Panama went to ranchers with over 150 hectares (World Bank 1991).
- 17 Aguilar and Solis (1988) studied some 109 large- and medium-sized ranches in Costa Rica in the mid-1980s and found that 75 per cent of the large farms and 65 per cent of the medium-sized farms which had purchased land did so with money from public loans. They also found that 30 per cent of 291 cases of investment credit for livestock given between 1973 and 1978 were used for land purchases, and an additional 29 per cent had "mixed uses", which may have included land purchases. In Panama, the public livestock credit programmes explicitly prohibit the purchase of land with credit funds. Nevertheless, because of fungibility, many ranchers have used long-term, low-interest governmental bank credit to expand their land holdings (Ledec 1992).
- 18 Flores *et al.* (1993) report that in the 1970s public credit agencies in Nueva Guinea, Nicaragua, made more credit available to ranchers who deforested large areas because this was taken as evidence that they were hard workers.
- 19 Multiple regression models using national data for Costa Rica from 1967 to 1976 estimated that a 20 per cent increase in credit for beef cattle would only increase beef production by 7 per cent (Solera-Ruíz 1981).
- 20 The Nicaraguan government recently signed a 22 million dollar loan agreement with the Central American Bank for Economic Integration (BCIE) which could significantly increase deforestation in that country (Siles and Hernández 1994).
- 21 Similar results have been found in the Brazilian Amazon (Browder 1988; Hecht *et al.* 1988), although they have been partially disputed by Mattos and Uhl (1994).

- 22 The Honduran agrarian reform law exempted all pasture lands from potential expropriation. The 1962 Panamanian agrarian reform law specified that land served a socially useful function if it was in pasture, crops, tree plantations or urban construction; otherwise it was considered "idle" (Graciela 1989).
- 23 Southgate *et al.* (1991) also found that deforestation was lower in agricultural frontier municipalities in Ecuador that had higher percentages of titled land.
- 24 Despite the favourable terms under which the Guatemalan government made land available in the Petén, many purchasers never fulfilled the conditions necessary to become owners. Often ranchers only went through the first few steps in the titling process, failed to make regular payments for their land, never invested on it, or abandoned it for long periods of time.
- 25 Most land recipients were never legally eligible to purchase land in the first place, since according to the law to buy land a rancher could not own more than 45 hectares of land outside the Petén. Thus, even today the legal means exist in Guatemala for the government to reclaim large amounts of land transferred to large ranchers.
- 26 This process of privatisation, which greatly accelerated after 1990 and culminated in the disappearance of the state-farm sector, was in many instances accompanied by widespread slaughter of cattle.
- 27 For a well-argued negative assessment of the prospects for extractive reserves in Central America see Edelman (1994).
- 28 Due to lack of enforcement, however, a similar Nicaraguan government prohibition of extensive cattle ranching in the buffer zone of the Indio-Maiz buffer zone in Nueva Guinea and Río San Juan has had little impact (Flores *et al.* 1994).
- 29 Nevertheless, a recent study by Hernández-Mora (1994) of the El Recreo community in Atlantida, Honduras, found that municipal offtcials claimed to charge higher land taxes for land with perennial crops than for land with annual crops and no taxes for land with forests, but landowners were unaware of this distinction and complained that they were being forced to pay taxes on areas which they are not allowed to deforest and hence was "giving them nothing".

- 30 Improved livestock systems, if they were more labour intensive, could also theoretically diminish land clearance by limiting the amount of labour available for that activity; however, there is little empirical evidence available to assess whether this might really be likely to occur.
- 31 About one-third said they had abandoned the pasture because it was unprofitable, half mentioned that the land was not suitable for pasture, and 15 per cent said they planned to put the land to an alternative use.
- 32 Admittedly, however, not all lands can quickly revert to commercially attractive secondary forests. This depends on the availability of seeds, soil and climate conditions, and other factors (G. Budowski, personal communication). Moreover, this argument in favour of incentives for secondary forests does not imply that incentives for reforestation or management of existing forests is never appropriate.
- 33 Almost all of the 25 ranchers interviewed recently by Rosario Ambrogio in Boaco, Chontales and Nueva Guinea reported having lost cattle and having to abandon pastures during the 1980s due to the military conflicts.

REFERENCES

- Aguilar, I. and M. Solís. 1988. *La elite ganadera en Costa Rica* San Jose: Editorial de la Universidad de Costa Rica.
- Aguilar, I. and M. Solis. 1988. La elite ganadera en Costa Rica San Jose: Editorial de la Universidad de Costa Rica.
- AHT-APESA (Agrar-Und Hydrotechnick Asesoría y Promoción Económica S.A.). 1992. Plan de Desarrollo Integrado del Petén. Convenio Gobiernos Alemania/Guatemala, Vol. I, Diagnóstico General de1 Petén.
- Alderman, R.H. 1973. A Geographical Analysis of the Beef Cattle Industry of Honduras. Ph. D. dissertation, Michigan State University.
- Banco de Guatemala. 1981a. Establecimiento de una empresa ganadera en el Peten. *Informe Económico* 28 (April-June): 21-70.
- Banco de Guatemala.1981b. Informe sobre la exportatión de came bovina y ganado en pie a México. *Informe Económico* 28 (October-December): 51-83.
- Bastiaans, R. and H. Clemens. 1986. Cooperativas de producción en una zona ganadera -3 estudios de case de CAS en El Sauce, Leon. Serie Estudios No. 8, Departamento de Economia Agrícola (DEA) de la Universidad National Autonoma de Nicaragua (UNAN).
- Baumeister, E. 1994. El café en Honduras. In *Tierra, café y sociedad,* ed. Héctor Pérez Brignoli and Mario Samper. San Jose: Facultad Latinoamericana de Ciencias Sociales. 437-494.
- Binswanger, H.P. 1991. Brazilian Policies that Encourage Deforestation in the Amazon. *World Development* 19: 821-829.
- Biondi-Morra, B. 1990. Revolución y politica alimentaria, un análisis critico de Nicaragua. Mexico: Siglo XXI.
- Boyer, J., R. DuBois, G. Hartshorn, S. Heckadon, E. Ossio, F. Zadroga, G. Schuerholtz and M. Chakroff. 1980. Panama: Condiciones de1 medio ambiente y los recursos naturales, Informe final del estudio de campo a nivel de reconocimiento. USAID contract AID/PDC C-0251. International Science and Technology Institute Inc. Washington, D.C.
- Brockett, CD. 1988. Land, Power, and Poverty, Agrarian Transformation and Political Conflict in Central America. Boston: Unwin Hyman.

- Browder, J.O. 1988. The Social Costs of Rain Forest Destruction: A Critique and Economic Analysis of the Hamburger Debate. *Interciencia* 13(3) (May-June): 115-120.
- Cabrera, C. 1992. Informe de consultoría, diagnostico forestal nacional de Guatemala. Guatemala: International Union for Nature Conservation (IUCN) and Intercooperation.
- Cajina, A. 1986. Ganadería bovina en Nicaragua, Recuento crítico y retos delpresente. Cuaderno de Investigatión No. 4. Managua: INIES.
- Camacho, A. 1989. Factores que afectan la modemizacíon de la agricultura: el sector lechero en Costa Rica, 1967-1988. San Jose: IICA.
- Carlor, J.M. and N. de Kroes. 1994. Situation de la ganadería bovina en la zona de Nueva Guinea. Unpublished manuscript.
- CATIE (Centro Agronómico Tropical de Investigatión y Ensefiañza). 1990. Situación actual de la producción, industrialización y comercialización de la leche en Centro América Boletin Técnico No. 21. Turrialba: CATIE.
- CIAT (Centro Internacial de Agricultura Tropical). 1993. Trends in CIAT Commodities. Cali, Colombia: CIAT.
- CIERA (Centro de Investigaciones y Estudios de la Reforma Agraria). 1983. Informe de Nicaragua a la FAO. Managua: CIERA.
- CIPRES (Centro para la Investigatión, la Promoción y el Desarrollo Rural y Social). 1992. El campesinado en la zona de amortiguamiento de la reserva biológica. (Avarices de investigation del CIPRES en Rio San Juan), Cuademos de CIPRES 13. Managua: CIPRES.
- Clark, S., M. Fulton and J.T. Scott Jr. 1993. The Inconsistency of Land Values, Land Rents, and Capitalization Formulas. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics* 75 : 147-155.
- Clerx, L., C. Barreda, G. Arguello and G. Siles. 1993. Región I Nicaragua, Dinámica actual de1 proceso de desarrollo, opciones para la cooperatión externa de los países bajos. Estelí, Managua, San Jose: CDR-ULA.
- Colchester, M., and L. Lohmann. 1993. *The Struggle for Land and the Fate of the Forests*. London: Zed Books.
- CONAMA (Comisión National del Medio Ambiente). 1992. Situación ambiental de la República de Guatemala. Guatemala, Conferencia Mundial del Medio Ambiente y el Desarrollo UNCED - Brasil.

Convenio MAG-UNA-GTZ. 1991. Memoria simposio nacional sobre produccion de ganado de came y doble proposito en 10s tropicos December 12-14, 1990 Proyecto costarricense - alemán, Proyecto de Mejoramiento y Nutrición de Bovinos, San José.

Coseforma DGF/GTZ. 1993. Día de campo - bosque secundario, San José.

- Cruz, M.C., C.A. Meyer, R. Repetto and R. Woodward. 1992. Population Growth, Poverty, and Environmental Stress: Frontier Migration in the Philippines and Costa Rica. Washington D.C.: World Resources Institute.
- Czel, M. 1990. Elite Interest Groups, Political Agenda Setting, and Agricultural Subsidies in Costa Rica: FODEA, A Case Study. M.A. Thesis, Department of Political Sciences, University of Colorado.
- Davila, A. and R. Castro. 1990. Monografía Ambiental de la Región de las Verapaces. Paper presented to a regional seminar on environmental policies in the Verapaces region, 20-22 June, Asociación de Investigación y Estudios Sociales (ASIES), Guatemala.
- Davis, S.H. and A. Wali. 1993. Indigenous Territories and Tropical Forest Management in Latin America. Policy Research Working Papers, WPS 1100, Environment Department, World Bank, Washington D.C.
- Deacon, R.T. 1992. Controlling Tropical Deforestation, An Analysis of Alternative Policies. Policy Research Working Papers, WPS 1029, Environment Department, World Bank, Washington D.C.
- DeWalt, B.R. 1982. The Big Macro Connection: Population, Grain and Cattle in Southern Honduras. *Culture and Agriculture* 14: 1-2.
- Didier, G. 1993. Etude de la Dynamique des Systemés de Production sur la Frontiere Agricole du Departement du Rio San Juan, Nicaragua. Memoire, Ecole Nacionale Superieure Agronomique de Montepelier, Universite de Montpelier. Montpelier, France.
- Dirección de Estadística y Censo.1987. Ministerio de Economía, Industria y Comercio Costa Rica *Censo Agropecuario* 1984. San Jose.
- Dirección de Estadística y Censo. 1992. *Estadística panameña, Situación económica Producción pecuaria, año* 1990. Sección 312 Producción Agropecuaria, Panama, (June).
- Dirección General de Estadística. 1976. Ministerio de Economia Encuesta pecuaria 1974 (cifras dejinitivas). Guatemala.

- Daugherty, H.E., ed. 1989. *Prefil ambiental de Honduras* 1989. Tegucigalpa: Secretaría de Planificación, Coordinación y Presupuesto (SEC-PLAN)/Development Strategies for Fragile Lands (DESFIL).
- Edelman, M. 1985. Extensive Land Use and the Logic of the Latifundio: A Case Study in Guanacaste Province, Costa Rica. *Human Ecology* 13: 153-185.
- Edelman, M. 1992. The Logic of the Latifundio, The Large Estates of Northwestern Costa Rica Since the Late Nineteenth Century. Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Edelman, M. 1994. Rethinking the Hamburger Thesis: Deforestation and the Crisis of Central America's Beef Exports. In *The Social Causes of Environment Destruction in Latin America* ed. Michael Painter and William H. Durham. Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press.
- Escuela de Ciencias Agrarias/Cooperación Técnica Francesa. 1987. Estudio Sistemico de la Realidad Agraria de una Microregion de Costa Rica, Nicoya - Hojancha, I - Historia Agraria de la Peninsula de Nicoya. Avarices de Investigatión No. 1, Heredia.
- Fallas, J. and C. Morera. 1993. Cambios en cobertura y evaluación del uso de la tierra en la I etapa del proyecto de riego Arenal Tempisque para los años 1986 y 1992. Universidad National, Costa Rica.
- Fledderjohn, D. and D.C. Thompson. 1982. Northern Transversal Strip Land Resettlement Project. Office of Rural Development Report No. 1, Guatemala: USAID.
- Flores, A., M. Mejia, P. Martinez and T. Pijnenburg. 1994. Informe sobre un viaje de reconocimiento de la nueva trocha entre Nueva Guinea y Bluefields. Nueva Guinea: Comision Municipal de Defensa del Medio Ambiente de Nueva Guinea.
- FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations). *Production Yearbooks*. 1966, 1976, 1979, 1980, 1990, 1991, 1992. Rome: FAO.
- FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations). 1993. Forest Resources Assessment 1990, Tropical Countries. FAO Forestry Paper 112. Rome: FAO.
- Foreign Agricultural Service. 1994. *Dairy, Livestock and Poulty: U.S. Trade and Prospects.* Circular Series FDLP 2-94. Washington D.C.: United States Department of Agriculture.

- Garst, R. and T. Barry. 1990. Feeding the Crisis, U.S. Food Aid and Farm Policy in Central America. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press.
- Gil Spillari, A. 1993. Situación actual y perspectivas de la cadena productiva de algodón en Centroamérica. Consejo National del Algodón, Guatemala.
- Girot, P.O. 1989. Formacion y estructuración de una frontera viva: el case de la region norte de Costa Rica. *Goistmo* 3(2): 17-42.
- Goberino de Panama. 1993. Censo Agropecuario, 1991. Panama.
- Godoy, R. and N. Brokaw. 1994. Cattle, Income, and Investments among the Tawakha Indians of the Rain Forest of Honduras: New Thoughts on an Old Link. Unpublished manuscript.
- Graciela Joly, L. 1989. The Conversion of Rain Forests to Pastures in Panama. In *The Human Ecology of Tropical Land Settlement in Latin America*, ed. Debra A. Schuman and William L. Partridge. Boulder, Colorado: Westview Press. 86-130.
- Grainger, A. 1993. Rates of Deforestation in the Humid Tropics: Estimates and Measurements. *The Geographical Journal* 159: 33-44.
- Griffith, K. and L. Zepeda. 1994. Farm Level Trade-offs of Intensifying Tropical Milk Production. *Ecological Economics* 9: 12 1- 133.
- Guess, G.M. 1982. The Politics of Agricultural Land Use and Development Contradictions: The Case of Forestry in Costa Rica. Ph. D. dissertation, University of California, Riverside.
- Guillen Jimenez, A.L., 1993. Inventario comercial y análisis silvicultural de bosques humedos secundarios en la región Huetar Norte de Costa Rica. Licenciatura Thesis, Instituto Tecnológico de Costa Rica, Cartago.
- Gutierrez, I. 1988. La politica de tierras de la reforma agraria sandinista. Managua: Direction General de Reforma Agraria.
- Hecht, S.B. 1992. Logics of Livestock and Deforestation: The Case of Amazonia. In *Development or Destruction, The Conversion of Tropical Forest to Pasture in Latin America*, ed. T. Downing, S. Hecht, H. Pearson and C. Garcia Downing. Boulder: Westview Press. 7-25.
- Hecht, S., R.B. Norgaard and G. Possio. 1988. The Economics of Cattle Ranching in Eastern Amazonia. *Interciencia* 13: 233-240.

- Heckadon Moreno, S. 1984. Panama's Expanding Cattle Front: The Santeño Campesinos and the Colonization of the Forests. Ph. D. dissertation, University of Essex.
- Heinzman, R. and C. Reining. 1988. Sustained Rural Development: Extractive Forest Reserves in the Northern Peten of Guatemala. USAID/Guatemala Contract 520-0000-0-00-8532-00, Guatemala.
- Hering, U. and A. Jaendl. 1993. Explotacion agropecuaria dentro de la Reserva de la Biósfera del Rio Plátano: el manejo de la ganadería en las riberas del Río Tinto Negro. Sociedad Carl Duinsberg/Programa ASA -Mosquitia Pawisa (MOPAWI).
- Herlihy, P.H. 1989. Opening Panama's Darien Gap. Journal of Cultural Geography 9(2): 41-49.
- Herlihy, P.H. 1992. Wildlands Conservation in Central America During the 1980s: A Geographical Perspective Conference of Latin Americanist Geographers 17/1 8: 31-43.
- Herlihy, P.H. and L.H. Herlihy. 1992. La herencia cultural de la reserve de la biosfera de1 Río Plátano: una área de confluencias étnicas en la Mosquitia. *La Reserva de la Bíosfera de1 Rio Plátano: Herencia de Nuestro Pasado*, ed. V. Murphy. Tegucigalpa: Ventanas Tropicales. 9-15.
- Hernández Alvarez, J.R. 1987. Movimiento campesino y reforma agraria en una zona del interior norte de Nicaragua, las políticas de la revolutión en condiciones de guerra, 1983 - 1986. Masters Thesis, Escuela National de Antropología e Historia, Mexico D.F.
- Hernández-Mora, N. 1994. Effects of Policy Reform on Land Use Decisions and Community Forest Management in Honduras: Four Case Studies. Masters Thesis, Cornell University.
- Herrera Perez, R.E. 1990. Evaluación financiera del manejo del bosque natural secundario en cinco sitios de Costa Rica. Masters Thesis, Centro Agronómico Tropical de Investigacion y Enseñanza (CATIE).
- Hijfte, P.A. van. 1989. La ganadería de came en el norte de la zona atlántica de Costa Rica. CATIE/Wageningen/MAG, field report No. 3 1.
- Hirvela, I., M. Kannienen, A. Ryokas, M. Ryokas and J. Sumelius. 1989. Nicaragua: Cattle Husbandry in Region V, A Basic Study. Helsinki: Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Finnish International Development Agency.

- Holman, F. 1993. Costos de producción de leche y carne, inversión de capital y competitividad en fincas de doble propósito en cinco regiones de Nicaragua Managua: Comisión National de Ganadería.
- Holman, F. 1994. Perfil de proyecto, Desarrollo y modemización del sector lechero de Nicaragua. Manuscript, Managua.
- Holman, F., R.D. Estrada, F. Romero and L. Villegas. 1992. Technology Adoption and Competetiveness in Small Milk Producing Farms in Costa Rica: A Case Study. Presented at the Animal Production Systems Global Workshop, September 15-20, San Jose, Costa Rica.
- Howard, P. 1987. From Banana Republic to Cattle Republic: Agrarian Roots of the Crisis in Honduras. Ph. D. dissertation, University of Wisconsin, Madison.
- Howard, P. 1988. Cattle Subsystem Expansion in Honduras and Nicaragua: The Creation of a Relative Surplus Population as a Primordial Cause of Deforestation. Paper presented at the VII World Rural Sociology Congress, Bologna, Italy, June 26-30.
- Huising, J. 1993. Land Use Zones and Land Use Patterns in the Atlantic Zone of Costa Rica. Masters Thesis, University of Wageningen.
- ICAITI (Instituto Centroamericano de Investigatión y Tecnología Industrial). 1974. Comercialización de ganado bovino y came en Guatemala. Guatemala.
- IICA (Instituto Interamericano de Cooperatión para la Agricultura). 1993a. Estudio de la cadena de la ganaderia e industria de la came en Panama. Unpublished manuscript, Panama.
- IICA (Instituto Interamericano de Cooperacción para la Agricultura). 1993b. Panama, Sector Agropecuario: Diagnostico y Propuestas. San Jose: IICA.
- INTECFOR (Instituto Técnico Forestal). 1993. Manual Técnico Forestal. Managua.
- Jarquin, J. 1990. Sistema de producción pecuario e intermediación de leche y ganado en Nueva Guinea. Programa de Desarrollo Rural para la Zona de Nueva Guinea, Estudios de Base, Informe No. 9. San Jose: ULA-CDR.
- Jarquin, J. 1991. Diferenciación tecnológica y estructuras de costos en las zonas lecheras de Nicaragua. Report No. 5, Managua.

- Jarquín, J. and L.M. Videa. 1990. Los sistemas de producción ganaderos en la V región y el impacto de las politicas económicas hacia el sector. Departamento de Economía Agrícola. UNAN, Managua.
- Jarvis, L.S. 1986. *Livestock Development in Latin America*. Washington D.C.: World Bank.
- Jones, J.R. 1990. Colonization and Environment, Land Settlement Projects in Central America. Tokyo: United Nations University Press.
- Kaimowitz, D. 1995. Land Tenure, Land Markets, and Natural Resource Management by Large Landowners in the Peten and the Northern Transversal of Guatemala. Unpublished manuscript, San Jose.
- Karliner, J. 1985. Rainforests and Land Reform, A Case Study of the Nicaraguan Revolution. Paper presented at the Grassroots Rainforest Conference, Golden Gate National Recreation Area, November 15-1 7.
- Kishor, N.M., and L.F. Constantino. 1993. Forest Management and Competing Land Uses: An Economic Analysis for Costa Rica. LATEN Dissemination Note #7, Latin America Technical Department, Environment Division, Word Bank, Washington D.C.
- Latinoconsult. 1974. Estudio de factibilidad de un programa de desarrollo de la ganadería bovina en el departamento del Petén. República de Guatemala, Consejo National de Planificación Económica, Empresa National de Fomento y Desarrollo Económico del Petén (FYDEP).
- Ledec, G. 1992a. New Directions for Livestock Policy: an Environmental Perspective. In *Development or Destruction, The Conversion of Tropical Forest to Pasture in Latin America*, ed. Theodore Downing, Susanna Hecht, Henry Pearson, Carmen Garcia Downing. Boulder: Westview Press. 27-65.
- Ledec, G.1992b. The Role of Bank Credit for Cattle Raising in Financing Tropical Deforestation: An Economic Case Study from Panama. Ph. D. dissertation, University of California, Berkeley.
- Legeay, D. 1994. Diagnostic agro-economique en zone de frontiere agricole, Le cas de la Reserve Biosphere Maya au Guatemala. Memoire ESAT 1, Ecole Superieure d'Agronomie Tropical, Montpelier, France.
- Lehmann, M.P. 1991. After the Jungleburger: Forces Behind Costa Rica's Continued Forest Conversion. *Latinamericanist* 26(2): 10-7.

- León, J.C. et al. 1982. Desarrollo tecnológico de la ganadería de came. San Jose: Consejo National de Investigaciones Científicas y Tecnologicas (CONICYT).
- Leonard, J.J.1987. Recursos naturales y desarrollo económico en América Central: unperfil ambiental. Turrialba: Centro Agronómico Tropical de Investigacción y Enseñanza.
- Ludeke, A. K. 1987. Natural and Cultural Physical Determinants of Anthropogenic Deforestation in the Cordillera Nombre de Dios, Honduras. Ph.D. dissertation, Texas A & M University.
- Lutz, E. and H. Daly. 1991. Incentives, Regulations, and Sustainable Land Use in Costa Rica. *Environmental and Resource Economics* 1: 179-194.
- Lutz, E., M. Vedova, H. Martínez, L. S. Ramon, R. Vasquez, A. Alvarado, L. Merino, R. Celis and J. Huising.1993. Interdisciplinary Fact-Finding on Current Deforestation in Costa Rica. Environment Working Paper No. 61, Environment Department. Washington D.C.: World Bank.
- MAGA (Ministerio de Agricultura, Ganadería y Alimentación), Unidad Sectorial de Planificación Agropecuaria y de Alimentos. 1993. *Recopilación de Estadísticas Agropecuarias, Periódo 1980-1991*. Guatemala.
- Mahar, D. 1988. *Government Policies and Deforestation in Brazil's Amazon*. Washington D.C.: World Bank.
- Maldidier, C. 1993. Tendencias actuales de la frontera agrícola en Nicaragua. Managua: Nitlapan-UCA.
- Maloney, T. 1981. El impacto social del esquema de desarrollo de la franja transversal del norte sobre los maya-kekchi en Guatemala. *Estudios Sociales Centroamericanos*. 91-106.
- Mattos, M.M. and C. Uhl. 1994. Economic and Ecological Perspectives on Ranching in the Eastern Amazon. *World Development* 22: 145-158.
- Matus, J., M. Padilla and F. Diaz. 1993. Diagnóstico de Campo. Volume III, Nicaragua, Programa de Apoyo al Fortalecimiento de la Situación de Derecho y el Despegue Económico en el Campo, Informe de la Misíon de Identificación. Managua: European Economic Community.
- MED-IRENA (Ministerio de Economía y Desarrollo, Instituto Nicaraguense de Recursos Naturales y de1 Ambiente).1993. *República de Nicaragua, Plan de Acción Ambiental*. Managua.

- Mercado Arias, C.A. 1993. Identificatión de estrategias de intensificatión en sistemas de producción bovina de doble propósito en el trópico seco de Nicaragua. Masters Thesis, CATIE.
- Merlet, M. 1992. La región interiure et la frontiere agricole. Unpublished manuscript.
- Merlet, M. 1994. Esbozo de tipología de los productores de la Sierra de Agalta, Honduras. Unpublished manuscript.
- Merlet, M., G. Farrell, Jean-Marie Laurent, and C. Borge. 1992. Identificación de un programa regional de desarrollo sostenible en el trópicp húmedo, informe de consultoría. Paris: Groupe de Recherche et d'Echanges Technologiques (GRET).
- MIRENEM (Ministerio de Recursos Naturales, Energia y Minas). 1994. *Opus Magna, MIRENEM* 1990-1994. San Jose, Costa Rica: MIREN-EM.
- Morales, J.L. 1992. Distribución del Pasto Ratana (Ischaemum ciliare) en las tierras de pastoreo de Costa Rica. In Seminario Taller; El pasto ratana (Ischaemum ciliare) en Costa Rica, Alternativa o problematica en nuestra ganaderia? San Carlos: Cooperativa de Productores de Leche Dos Pinos.
- Moran, E. 1993. Deforestation and Land Use in the Brazilian Amazon. Human Ecology 21 :1-21.
- Motte, E. and P. Billan. 1994. El subsector lechero en Costa Rica. Unpublished manuscript. San Jose.
- Myers, N. 1981. The Hamburger Connection: How Central America's Forests Became North America's Hamburgers. *Ambio* 10: 3-8.
- Namdar Irani, M. and L. Levard. 1984. Etude de systéme agraire dans la región de Camoapa, Departement de Boaco, Nicargua. Unpublished manuscript.
- Nations, J.D. 1992a. Terrestrial Impacts in Mexico and Central America. In Development or Destruction, The Conversion of Tropical Forest to Pasture in Latin America, ed. Theodore Downing, Susanna Hecht, Henry Pearson, Carmen García Downing. Boulder: Westview Press.191-203.
- Nations, J.D. 1992b. Xateros, Chicleros, and Pimenteros: Harvesting Renewable Tropical Forest Resources in the Guatemalan Peten. In *Conservation of Neotropical Forests, Working from Traditional Resource* Use, ed. Kent H. Redford and Christine Padoch. New York: Colombia University Press. 208-219.

- Nations, J. and D. Komer. 1983. Rainforests and the Hamburger Society. *Environment.* 25(3): 12-20.
- Nuñez Olivas, O. 1993. Deforestación en Costa Rica: la pesadilla y la esperanza. *Esta Semana*. (April 13 - 19): 11-12.
- Nunez, R.D. and A. Galetto. 1993. Centroamérica, opciones de liberalización del comercio de lacteos. San Jose: Regional Unit for Technical Assistance (RUTA).
- OAS (Organization of American States). 1991. Republica de Guatemala, Proyecto de Manejo y Conservación de 1os Recursos Naturales Renovables de la Cuenca de1 Rio Chixoy. Executive Secretary for Economic and Social Affairs, Department of Regional Development and the Environment, Washington D.C.
- Ortega, M. 1993. S.O.S. por Bosawás. Envío 135 (March): 20-26.
- Ortiz, R. 1994. El abandono de pastizales y el surgimiento de1 bosque secundario. Unpublished mansucript. San José.
- Paladines, O. 1978. Sistemas de productión ganadera en el trópico de America. IV Conferencia Mundial de Producción Animal, Memorias. Buenos Aires, August 20 - 26. Volume I: 49-72.
- Parsons, J. 1976. Forest to Pasture: Development or Destruction? *Revista de Biología Tropical* 24(1): 121-138.
- Peuker, A. 1992. Public Policies and Deforestation: A Case Study of Costa Rica. Latin America and the Caribbean Technical Department, Regional Studies Program, Report No. 14, Washington D.C.: World Bank.
- Pijnenburg, T. and P. Martinez. 1992.PRODES, Nueva Guinea, Diagnostico socio-economico. Document No. 1. Nueva Guinea, Nicaragua: Programa de Cooperación Técnica Nicaraguense - Holandés.
- Place, S. 1981. Ecological and Social Consequences of Export Beef Production in Guanacaste Province, Costa Rica. Ph. D. dissertation, University of California, Los Angeles.
- Prado, E., R. Pasos and F. Rios. 1991. Agricultura migratoria y desarrollo sostenible de la producción campesina de Río San Juan, Diagnóstico de Base. Cuademos de CIPRES 7. Managua: Centro para la Investigation, la Promoción y el Desarrollo Rural y Social.
- Reid, W.V. and K.R. Miller. 1989. *Keeping Options Alive: The Scientific Basis* for Conserving Biodiversity. Washington D.C.: World Resources Institute.

- Richards, M. 1994. Case Studies from Honduras, Central America. Unpublished manuscript.
- Rodríguez, C. 1993. *Tierra de labriegos, Los campesinos en Costa Rica desde 1950* San Jose: Facultad Latinoamericana de Ciencias Sociales.
- Rodriguez, S., and E. Vargas. 1988. El recurso forestal en Costa Rica, Politicas públicas y sociedad. Heredia: Editorial Universidad National.
- RUTA (Regional Unit for Technical Assistance) Unidad Técnica National. 1993. Opciones para la liberalización de precios y mercados en el subsector ganaderia de leche en Guatemala. Guatemala.
- Sader, S.A. and A.T. Joyce. 1988. Deforestation Rates and Trends in Costa Rica, 1940 to 1983. *Biotropica* 20: 11-19.
- Salaverri, J. 1992. La situación actual de la reserva. La Reserva de la Biósfera del Rio Plátano: Herencia de Nuestro Pasado, ed. V. Murphy. Tegucigalpa: Ventanas Tropicales.
- Sarmiento, M. 1992. Situación actual y perspectiva de la producción de la leche en Panamá. Panama: Ministerio de Desarrollo Agropecuario/Instituto de Investigación Agropecuaria de Panama/Centro International de Investigación para el Desarrollo.
- Schneider, R. 1994. Government and the Economy on the Amazon Frontier. Latin America and the Caribbean Technical Department. Report No. 34. Washington D.C.: World Bank.
- Schwartz, N.B. 1990. Forest Society, A Social History of Pet&, Guatemala. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.
- SECPLAN/SRN (Secretaria de Planificación, Coordinatión y Presupuesto/Secretaría de Recursos Naturales). 1994. IV Censo National Agropecuario. Tegucigalpa.
- Segura Bonilla, O. 1992. Incentives Forestales en Costa Rica, Políticas Económicas del Sector. Instituto Centroamericano de Administration de Empresas (INCAE), Alajuela, Costa Rica.
- Serráo. E.A. and J.M. Toledo. 1992. Sustaining Pasture-based Production Systems for the Humid Tropics. In *Development or Destruction, The Conversion of Tropical Forest to Pasture in Latin America*, ed. T. Downing, S. Hecht, H. Pearson and C. Garcia Downing. Boulder: Westview Press. 257-280.

- Serrão, E.A. and J.M. Toledo. 1993. The Search for Sustainability in Amazonian Pastures. In Alternatives to Deforestation: Steps Toward Sustainable Use of the Amazon Rain Forest, ed. A.B. Anderson. New York: Columbia University Press. 195-214.
- Shane, D.R. 1980. Hoofprints on the Forest: An Inquiry into the Beef Cattle Industry in the Tropical Forest Areas of Latin America. Washington D.C.: Office of Environmental Affairs, U.S. Department of State.
- Shearer, E., S. Lastarria and D. Mesbah. 1993. The Reform of Rural Land Markets in Latin America and the Caribbean: Research, Theory, and Policy Implications. Land Tenure Center Paper 141, University of Wisconsin, Madison.
- Siles, G. and W. Hernández. 1994. Analisis de la situation de1 sector exportador de came. Unpublished draft, Managua.
- Silviagro S. de R.L. 1994. Analisis del sub-sector forestal de Honduras. Tegucigalpa.
- Skinner, J. 1991a. If Agricultural Land Taxation is so Efficient, Why is it so Rarely Used? The World Bank Economic Review 5: 113-133.
- Skinner, J. 1991b. Prospects for Agricultural Land Taxation in Developing Countries. *The World Bank Economic Review*. 5: 493-5 11.
- Slutsky, D. 1979. La agroindustria de came en Honduras. *Estudios Sociales Centroamericanos*. Year VIII, No. 22 (January April): 101-205.
- Solera-Ruiz, C.L. 1981. Assessment of the Goals and the Policies of the National Development Plan 1979-1982 for Beef Cattle in Costa Rica. Ph.D. dissertation, Iowa State University.
- Southgate, D., R. Sierra and L. Brown. 1991. The Causes of Tropical Deforestation in Ecuador: A Statistical Analysis. World Development 19: 1145-1151.
- SRN (Secretaria de Recursos Naturales), Unidad de Planificación Sectorial Agrícola, Departamento de Información Agricola. 1991 Compendio Estadistico Agropecuario, 1991. Tegucigalpa.
- Stanfield, D. 1992. *Insecurity of Land Tenure in Nicaragua*. Land Tenure Center, University of Wisconsin.
- Stewart, R. 1992. A Micro Economic Study of Costa Rica's Forestry Sector. San Jose: Academia de Centro America.

- Stewart, R. and D. Gibson. 1994. Environmental and Economic Development Consequences of Forest and Agricultural Sector Policies in Latin America (A Synthesis of Case Studies of Costa Rica, Ecuador, and Bolivia).
- Stonich, S.C. 1989. The Dynamics of Social Processes and Environmental Destruction: A Central American Case Study. *Population and Development Review* 15: 269-298.
- Strasma, J.D. and R. Celis. 1992. Land Taxation, the Poor, and Sustainable Development. In *Poverty, Natural Resources, and Public Policy in Central America.* ed. S. Annis. New Brunswick: Transactions Publishers. 143-169.
- Strasma, J.D., J. Alm, E. Shearer and A. Waldstein. 1987. Impact of Agricultural Land Revenue Systems on Agricultural Land Usage. Burlington, Vt.: Associates in Rural Development.
- Thrupp, L.A. 1980. Deforestation, Agricultural Development, and Cattle Expansion in Costa Rica, An Integrated Approach to Problems of Land-Use Transformation. B.A. Thesis, Latin American Studies, Stanford University.
- Toledo, J. and J. Navas. 1986. Land Clearing for Pastures in the Amazon. In Land Clearing and Development in the Tropics, ed. R. Lal, P.A. Sanchez and R.W. Cummings. Rotterdam: A.A. Balkema. 97-116.
- Toledo, V. 1992. Bio-Economic Costs. In Development or Destruction, The Conversion of Tropical Forest to Pasture in Latin America, ed. T. Downing, S. Hecht, H. Pearson and C. Garcia Downing. Boulder: Westview Press. 67-93.
- Tori-es-Rivas, E. 1989. Perspectivas de la economía agroexportadora en Centroamerica. In La economia agroexportadora en Centroamérica: crecimiento y adversidad, ed. W. Pelupessy. San Jose: Facultad Latinoamericana de Ciencias Sociales. 19-45.
- Trejos, R. 1992. El comercio agropecuario extraregional. In La agricultura en el desarrollo económico de Centroamerica en los 90, ed. C. Pomareda. San Jose: IICA. 87-124.
- Tremblay, C.J., and D. Malenfont. 1992. Hacía la consolidatión de una forestería social en Nicaragua, enfoque de planificación y ejecución de acciones a nivel local: case de1 programa forestal campesino de la región V de Nicaragua (periodo 1989-1991).

- TSC/WRI (Tropical Science Center/World Resources Institue). 1991. Accounts Overdue: Natural Resource Depreciation in Costa Rica. Washington D.C.: World Resources Institute.
- Utting, P. 1992. Trees, People and Power, Social Dimensions of Deforestation and Forest Protection in Central America. Geneva: United Nations Research Institute for Social Development (UNRISD).
- Valenzuela, I. 1994. La expansión agrícola y la deforestación tropical en Guatemala. Geneva: United Nations Research Institute for Social Development/World Wildlife Fund.
- Van der Kamp, E.J. 1990. Aspectos económicos de la ganadería en pequeña escala y de la ganaderia de la came en la zona atlantica de Costa Rica. CATIE/Wageningen/MAG. Field Report No 51.
- Van der Weide, A.P.A. 1986. Exploratory Survey in the Atlantic Zone of Costa Rica, Animal Production. Field Reports No. 3. MAG/Wageningen/CATIE.
- Vargas, H., R.D. Estrada and E.F. Navas. 1991. Desarrollo de la ganaderia bovina de doble propósito en parcelamientos de la Costa Sur de Guatemala. Proyecto Mejoramiento de Sistemas de Production Bovina de Doble Propósito en Guatemala, San Jose.
- Ventura, F. 1992. Diagnostico Agroindustrial de la Carne de Ganado Bovino, Periodo 1980-1991. Tegucigalpa: INCAE.
- von Amsberg, J. 1994. Economic Parameters of Deforestation. Policy Research Working Papers. WPS 1350, Policy Research Department, Environment, Infrastructure, and Agriculture Division, World Bank, Washington, D.C.
- Walker, I., J. Suazo, A. Thomas and H. Jean-Pois. 1993. El impacto de las politicas de ajuste estructural sobre el medio ambiente en Honduras. Postgrado Centroamericano en Economia, Universidad National Autonoma de Honduras.
- Warnken, P.F. 1975. The Agricultural Development of Nicaragua, An Analysis of the Production Sector. International Series 1, Special Report 168, Agricultural Experiment Station, University of Missouri, Columbia.
- Williams, R.1986. *Export Agriculture and the Crisis in Central America*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.

- World Bank. 1978. Guatemala, Proyecto de desarrollo ganadero, Préstamo 722-GU, Informe de terminación del proyecto. Washington, D.C.
- World Bank. 1991. Panama, Project Completion Report, Third Livestock Project, Loan 2356-PAN. Agriculture Operations Division, Report No. 9713, Washington D.C.
- World Bank. 1993. Costa Rica, Revisión del sector forestal, versión preliminar para discusión Washington D.C.
- WRI (World Resources Institute). 1992. World Resources 92-93, A Guide to the Global Environment. New York: WRI.

This study analyses seven factors used to explain the conversion of forest to pasture in Central America between 1979 and 1994: 1) favourable markets for livestock products; 2) subsidised credit and road construction; 3) land tenure policies; 4) limited technological change in livestock production; 5) policies which reduce timber values; 6) reduced levels of political violence; and 7) characteristics specific to cattle which make conversion attractive.

Deforestation rates in Central America declined in the 1980s, but remained high. After expanding rapidly, cattle population and pasture area have stagnated, although they continue to expand on the humid tropical frontier. Strong markets for beef and dairy products stimulated livestock expansion and deforestation in the 1960s and 1970s after which markets for livestock products became less favourable, which led to lower investment.

During the 1960s and 1970s large government subsidies for cattle raising encouraged forest conversion. Since then credit subsidies have been reduced, but subsidised public road construction continues, causing widespread deforestation. Land speculation is another reason why pasture expansion has continued in agricultural frontier areas.

There is little evidence that technological progress in livestock production reduces deforestation. Nor is it clear that removing policies which discriminate against forest production would have a major positive effect in this regard.

The author proposes: 1) restrictions on road construction and livestock credit in agricultural frontier areas; 2) increased enforcement of land-use restrictions in protected areas; 3) the expansion of land rights for indigenous peoples; 4) stronger restrictions on the titling of natural lands by large landholders; 5) pilot efforts to establish local land taxes with higher rates for pasture and crop lands than for forest; and 6) economic incentives for secondary forest regeneration and research on pasture degradation in Central America.